



# A THESIS

# FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# Secondary Metabolites and their Biological Activity from Marine Bio-resource: Marco-alga and Microorganism

Xiudong Yang

Department of Marine Life Science

**GRADUATE SCHOOL** 

JEJU NATIOANL UNIVERSITY

August, 2012

# Secondary Metabolites and their Biological Activity from Marine Bio-resource: Marco-alga and Microorganism

Xiudong Yang

(Supervised by Professor You-Jin Jeon)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

## 2012.08

This thesis has been examined and approved by



Thesis director, Moon-Soo Heo, Professor of Marine Life Science



22. 22

You-Jin Jeon, Professor of Marine Life Science

In-Kyu Yeo, Professor of Marine Life Science

Dakyng Kim

0

Dae-Kyung Kim, PhD-Korean Basic Science Institute

Seungheon Lee, Professor of Marine Life Science

2012.08

Date

**Department of Marine Life Science** 

## **GRADUATE SCHOOL**

## JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY

#### CONTENTS

SUMMARY	VI
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
LIST OF TABLES	XIV
INTRODUCTION	1

PART I - Isolation and Biological Activities of Secondary Metabolites from the Marine Brown Alga, *Padina arborescens* Holmes

ABSTRACT	13
1. MATERIALS AND METHODS	14
1.1. General materials	14
1.2. Plant materials	14
1.3. Extraction and isolation	16
1.4. Cell culture	20
1.5. Cell growth inhibitory assay	20
1.6. Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342	21
1.7. Cell cycle analysis	21
1.8. Western blot analysis	22

2.1. Isolation of the active compound from marine brown alga, Padina



arborescens Holmes
2.2. Anticancer effects of the glyceroglycolipids from <i>P. arborescens</i> Holmes41
2.3. Induction effects of apoptosis in HL-60 cells by the isolated compounds43
2.4. Sub-G1 DNA contents45
2.5. Regulation of caspase-3, Bax and Bcl-xL by the isolated compounds47
3. DISCUSSION
4. CONCLUSION

PART II - Isolation, Culture of Marine-Derived Fungi and Screening the Biological Activities of their Extracts

ABSTRACT
1. MATERIALS AND METHODS54
1.1. General reagents
1.2. Samples and fungal strain isolation from collected samples
1.3. Isolation and Identification of fungal strains in pure culture
1.4. Liquid Culture and Extraction
1.5. DPPH radical scavenging assay
1.6. Screening nitric oxide (NO) production inhibitory the effects of extracts
from marine-derived fungi
1.6.1. Cell culture
1.6.2. MTT assay



1.6.3. Determination of nitric oxide (NO) production
1.7. Screening anti-cancer effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi59
1.7.1. Cell culture
1.7.2. Cell growth inhibitory assay

# 

2.2. DPPH scavenging activities
2.3. Assessment of Cell Viability
2.4. Effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi on LPS-induced NC
production
2.5. Cell growth inhibitory the effects of extracts from marine-derived fungi in
HL-60 cells

# PART III – Natural Products from the Marine-Derived Fungus *Eurotium amstelodami* and their Biological Activities

ABSTRACT	
1. MATERIALS AND METHODS	73
1.1. General reagents	73
1.2. Fungal Material	73



1.3. Extraction and Isolation of Natural Products
1.4. Anti-inflammatory effects of the compounds isolated from $E$ .
amstelodami
1.4.1. Cell culture
1.4.2. MTT assay
1.4.3. Determination of Nitric Oxide (NO) Production
1.4.4. Determination of PGE <sub>2</sub> Production80
1.4.5. Measurement of Pro-inflammatory Cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-6)
Production
1.4.6. Western Blot Analysis
1.5. Statistical analysis

2. RESULTS and DISCUSSION
2.1. Isolation and identification of bioactive natural products from $E$ .
amstelodami
2.2. Anti-inflammatory effects of asperflavin and questinol in LPS-stimulated
Raw 264.7 cells94
2.2.1. Cell viability in Raw 264.7 cells94
2.2.2. Effects of asperflavin and questinol on NO production in LPS-treated
RAW 264.7 cells96
2.2.3. Effects of asperflavin and questinol on PGE <sub>2</sub> production in LPS-treated
RAW 264.7 cells



2.2.4. Effects of asperflavin and questinol on production of pro-inflammatory
cytokines in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells100
2.2.5. Effects of asperflavin and questinol on expression of iNOS and COX-2
protein in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells104
3. DISCUSSION
4. CONCLUSION



#### **SUMMARY**

Natural products have long been used as foods, fragrances, pigment, insecticides, medicines, and so on. From 1970s, marine natural products have attracted the attention of biologists and chemists in the world. Marine organisms produce secondary metabolites that are structurally distinct from those produced by terrestrial organisms, possibly due to factors unique to marine environments such as high salinity, pressure and a relatively constant temperature. Unusual functional groups, such as isocyanate, isonitrile, dichloroimine, and halogenated functionalities, occur predominantly in marine metabolites. So far, approximately 16,000 have been isolated from marine organisms. Among the marine organisms, marine macro-algae, known as seaweeds are normally used as foods and crude drug in the Asian countries. In the recent years, many secondary metabolites have been isolated from marine macro-algae with interesting biological activities and potential beneficial effects. Furthermore, marine-derived fungi have proved to be a rich and promising source of novel bioactive natural products. Most of these microorganisms grow in a unique and extreme habitat and therefore have the capability to produce unique and unusual secondary metabolites.

Therefore, in this study, the chemical composition of the brown alga, *Padina arborescens* Holmes has been investigated. Three new glyceroglycolipid compounds (SQMG, OGG and NGG) and one known compound (POGG) were isolated from the CHCl<sub>3</sub> and EtOAc fractions. The new compounds, SQMG, OGG and NGG showed higher cell growth inhibitory effects than POGG in HL-60 cancer cells. The





treatments with SQMG, OGG and NGG could induce the apoptosis in HL-60 cells through up-regulation of BAX and caspase-3, down-regulation of Bcl-xL.

In order to develop the new marine bio-resource, we tried to isolate marine-derived fungi. Thirty six fungal strains were isolated from four types of marine samples. Most broth and mycelium extracts of marine fungi showed strong anti-oxidant activities against DPPH radical, especially the strains from *Penicillium* sp. and *Eurotium* sp. Several extracts exhibited inhibitory effects on NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells without cytotoxicity. The extracts of an unidentified strain 013-1 exhibited highest cell growth inhibitory activity in HL-60 cells among all the isolated marine fungi.

The isolated marine-fungus, *Eurotium amstelodami* was selected as the target strain for research of natural products and their biological activities. Four compounds were isolated from broth extracts. Among them, asperflavin and questinol showed inhibitory effects of NO and PGE2 production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells without cytotoxicity. They were also found to decrease the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6). The mechanism of the potential anti-inflammatory effects of asperflavin and questinol may attribute to the suppression of iNOS. Therefore, our study suggests a potential use of these compounds might be selected as a promising agent for the prevention and therapy of inflammatory disease.



#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I. Four types of phlorotannins isolated from marine algae

Figure II. Chemical structure of fucoxanthin isolated from marine algae.

Figure III. The glycolipids isolated from marine algae.

Figure IV. Other bioactive metabolites isolated from marine algae.

Figure 1-1. The photograph of the brown alga Padina arborescens Holmes

**Figure 1-2.** Isolation scheme of the active compounds from CHCl<sub>3</sub> fraction of *P*. *arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-3. Isolation scheme of the active compounds from EtOAc fraction of *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-4. The structures of four compounds isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-5. The mass spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from P. arborescens Holmes.

**Figure 1-6.** The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-7. The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-8. The mass spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from P. arborescens Holmes.

Figure 1-9. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

**Figure 1-10.** The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-11. The mass spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-12. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from *P. arborescens* 



제주대학교 중앙도서관 JEJU NATIONAL UNIVERSITY LIBRARY Holmes.

Figure 1-13. The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.

Figure 1-14. Inhibitory effects of the four compounds isolated from marine brown alga, *Padina arborescens* Holmes against the growth in the cancer cell (HL-60).

**Figure 1-15.** Induction of apoptosis by the treatments of SQMG, OGG and NGG at the different concentrations. HL-60 cells were seeded at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml and treated with the different concentrations of the compounds. After an incubation of 24 h, cellular morphological changes were observed under a fluorescence microscope after Hoechst 33342 staining.

**Figure 1-16.** Effects of SQMG, OGG and NGG on the cell cycle distribution of HL-60 cells. HL-60 cells were treated with the different concentrations of the compounds for 24 h. Cells were fixed in 70% ethanol, stained with PI and the percentage of cells in G1 phase of the cell cycle was determined by flow cytometry.

**Figure 1-17.** Effects of SQMG, OGG and NGG on up-regulation of Bax and caspase-3, down-regulation of Bcl-xl. The HL-60 cells were treated with different concentration of the compounds for 24 h. Equal amounts of cell lysate ( $30\mu g$ ) were resolved via SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose, and probed with specific antibodies (anti-Bax, anti-Bcl-xl, and anti-caspase-3).

Figure 2-1. DPPH radical scavenging activity of the broth and mycelium extracts from marine-derived fungi. Experiments were performed in triplicated and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SE.



Figure 2-2. Cell viability of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in RAW 264.7 macrophages. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SE.

Figure 2-3. No production inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.

Figure 2-4. Cell growth inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in HL-60 cells. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SE.

Figure 3-1. Morphology of E. amstelodami and culture in SWS medium.

Figure 3-2. Isolation scheme of the natural products from *E. amstelodami*.

Figure 3-3. The chemical structures of the compounds isolated from *E. amstelodami*.

Figure 3-4. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of asperflavin

Figure 3-5. The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of asperflavin

**Figure 3-6.** The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of questinol

Figure 3-7. The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of questinol

Figure 3-8. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of neoechinulin A

Figure 3-9. The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of neoechinulin A

Figure 3-10. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of preechinulin

Figure 3-11. The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of preechinulin

Figure 3-12. Effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on cell viability

in RAW 264.7 cells. RAW cells were cultured with the different concentrations (50,



100, and 200  $\mu$ M) of asperflavin and questinol and LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments.

**Figure 3-13.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Cells  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$  were stimulated by LPS  $(1 \mu \text{g/ml})$  for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). The NO production was assayed in the culture medium. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*, *P* < 0.05 and \*\*, *P* < 0.01 indicates significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.

**Figure 3-14.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on PGE<sub>2</sub> production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Cells  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$  were stimulated by LPS  $(1 \ \mu\text{g/ml})$  for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). Supernatants were collected, and the PGE<sub>2</sub> production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments. \*\*, P < 0.01 indicates significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.

**Figure 3-15.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on TNF- $\alpha$  production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of TNF- $\alpha$  was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1 µg/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200 µM). Supernatants were collected, and the TNF- $\alpha$  production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*, *P* < 0.05 and \*\*, *P* < 0.01 indicate significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.



**Figure 3-16.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on IL-1 $\beta$  production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of IL-1 $\beta$  was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1 µg/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200 µM). Supernatants were collected, and the IL-1 $\beta$  production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*\*, *P* < 0.01 indicates significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.

**Figure 3-17.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on IL-6 production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of IL-6 was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). Supernatants were collected, and the IL-6 production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments. \*, P < 0.05 and \*\*, P < 0.01 indicate significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.

**Figure 3-18.** Inhibitory effects of asperflavin on the expression of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The RAW 264.7 cells were pre-incubated for 18 h, and stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). The expression levels of iNOS and COX-2 were determined using immunoblotting method.

**Figure 3-19.** Inhibitory effects of questinol on the expression of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The RAW 264.7 cells were pre-incubated for 18 h, and stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h in the presence of questinol (50, 100, and



200  $\mu M$  ). The expression levels of iNOS and COX-2 were determined using immunoblotting method.



## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Total fungal strains isolated from marine sources.



#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Marine Organisms**

It is well known that more than 70% of our planet's surface is covered by oceans and the life on Earth has its origin in the sea [1]. Oceans provide a home for over 30 phyla and 500,000 species of marine organisms. Their resources are varied and vast and partly comprise of fish, shellfish, other animals, vegetation, algae, bacteria and fungi [2, 3]. In recent years, many bioactive compounds have been extracted from various marine animals like tunicates, sponges, soft corals, bryozoans, sea slugs and marine organisms. Due to the extreme environment, such as high salinity, pressure and a relatively constant temperature or darkness, the marine organisms have been found to produce a diverse of marine natural products, including terpenes, steroids, polyketides, peptides, alkaloids, phlorotannins, and porphyrins, which have novel structures and are often biologically active. Unusual functional groups, such as isocyanate, isonitrile, dicholoroimine, and halogenated functionalities, occur predominantly in marine metabolites. In recent years, natural products from marine bio-resources and their biological activity have been drawn considerable attention as many of them are structurally unique and possess interesting biological activities.

#### 1.2 Marine Macro-algae

Among marine organisms, marine algae are rich sources of bioactive compounds with various biological activities. About 30,000 species of algae are found the world over

1



which occur at all places where there is light and moisture and are found in abundance in sea. Marine macro-algae or seaweeds have been used as foods especially in China and Japan and crude drugs for treatment of many diseases such as iodine deficiency (goiter, Basedow's disease and hyperthyroidism). Some seaweeds have also been used as the source of additional vitamins, treatment of various intestinal disorders, as vermifuges, as hypocholesterolaemic and hypoglycemic agents. Seaweeds have been employed as dressings, ointments and in gynecology [4]. Recently, their value as a source of novel bioactive substances has grown rapidly and researchers have revealed that marine algal originated compounds exhibit various biological activities. Marine macro-algae, known as seaweed, are classified into three divisions such as Chorophyta (green algae), Phaeophyta (brown algae), and Rhodophyta (red algae) according to their composition of pigments. For example, the presence of xanthophyll pigment, fucoxanthin, is responsible for the color of brown seaweeds [5, 6]. Over the last several decades, a lot of researches have reported the biological active compounds with unusual and exciting carbon skeletons from marine algae. These compounds exhibited various biological activities, such as anti-oxidant, anti-inflammation, anti-hypertension, anti-bacteria, and anti-cancer activities.

#### 1.2.1 Natural Products and Biological Activity of Marine Macro-algae

There are several reviews focusing on the natural products and bioactivity of marine macro-algae. The biological importance of marine algae has been reviewed in 2010 [7]. Phlorotannins from marine brown algae with their health beneficial biological





activities were reviewed. Phlorotannins, consisting of phloroglucinol subunits, contain four types as fucols, fucophlorethols, phlorethols, and eckols according the type of connection between the subunits (Fig. I) [3, 8]. The phlorotannins isolated from marine brown algae have been reported to show several pharmacological activities, including antioxidant, enzyme inhibition, anti-bacteria, anti-HIV, anti-cancer, radioprotection, anti-allergy, and other beneficial effects.





Phloroglucinol











Ьн



Eckol





The natural pigments derived from marine algae including chlorophyll a, pheophytin a, pyrophenophytin a, phycoerythrobilin, pheophorbide a. lute in.  $\beta$ -carotene, fucothxanthin, and siphonaxanthin have been reviewed. These natural pigments exhibit various beneficial biological activities (Fig. II) [9]. Fucoxanthin was found to have strong radical scavenging activities against DPPH, hydroxyl and singlet oxygen. In addition, cytoprotective effect of fucoxanthin against ROS formation induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> has been observed in vitro [10]. Fucoxanthin and its deacetylated metabolite fucoxanthinol also showed stronger anti-adult T-cell leukemia effects than those of β-carotene and astaxanthin. The anti-inflammatory effect of fucoxanthin was reported by Heo et al. Fucoxanthin treatment could reduce production of NO and PGE<sub>2</sub> expressions and levels of inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, and IL-1 $\beta$  [11]. Other biological activities of fucoxanthin have been reported, including anti-obsesity [12, 13], neuroprotection [14], anti-angiogenicactivity [15] and photo-protectiveactivity [16, 17]. Those activities of fucoxanthin and other natural pigments were reviewed by Pangestuti & Kim [9].



Figure II. Chemical structure of fucoxanthin isolated from marine algae.



Glycolipids are widely distributed in the marine algae. Certain species of red algae contains glycolipids from 50.3% to 75.1% total lipids, from 47.2% to 83.1% in brown algae, and from 68.0% to 75.1% in green algae [18]. Several reports have shown that the glycolipids isolated or identified from marine organism exhibited various biological activities. Two natural glucosyldiacylglycerols isolated from a brown alga, *Sargassum fulevellum* could enhance reciprocal activation of pro-u-PA and plasminogen *in vitro* [19]. Avrainvilloside has been isolated from a green alga, *Avrainvillea nigricans*, and it has cytotoxicity on WEHI164cells (murine frbrosarcoma) [20]. A sulfoquinovosyldiacylglycerol compound was isolated from the *n*-buthanol extract of the green alga, *Caulerpa racemosa*. This compound exhibited an excellent antiviral effect against HSV-2 with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 15.6  $\mu$ g/ml [21]. Other literatures showed that the glycolipids also showed inhibition of HIV-1 RT enzyme, anti-inflammatory, mammalian DN A polymerase  $\alpha$  inhibitory, Myt1 kinase inhibitory activities (Fig.III) [22-24].





- R1 = (7Z, 10Z, 13Z)-hexadecatrienoyl, R2 = (7Z, 10Z)-hexadecadienoyl
- R1, R2 = (7Z, 10Z)-hexadecadienoyl

R1 = linolenoyl, R2 = (7Z, 10Z, 13Z)-hexadecatrienoyl

- R1 = linolenoyl, R2 = (7Z, 10Z)-hexadecadienoyl
- R1, R2 = linolenoyl,



R1 = linolenoyl, R2 = (7Z, 10Z, 13Z)-hexadecatrienoyl R1 = linolenoyl, R2 = (7Z, 10Z)-hexadecadienoyl

Figure III. The glycolipids isolated from marine algae.



Other bioactive metabolites from marine marco-algae, such as sesquinterpenes, diterpenes, meroterpenoids, diterpenes, C15-acetogenins, and steroids, have been frequently reported from various species of seaweeds. Most of these skeletons have been reported to exhibit antitumor, cytotoxic, and antibacterial activities. For example, two new sesquinterpenes from the red alga *Laurencia microcladia* showed cytotoxicity against five human tumor cell lines (Fig. IV-1, IV-2) [25]. A halogenated C15 acetogenin, (12E)-lembyne-A (Fig. IV-3), was isolated from *Laurencia mariannensis*. It showed inhibitory activity against *Alcaligenes auqa-marinus*, *Azomonas agilis, Erwinia amylovora*, and *Escherichia coli* with MIC in the range of 20-30 µg/disk [26]. Steroids, a class of functionally important triterpeniod lipid are typical metabolites occurring in marine algae (Fig. IV-4) [27, 28].





Figure IV. Other bioactive metabolites isolated from marine algae.



#### **1.3 Marine-Derived Fungi**

Marine-derived fungi have recently been proved to be a rich source of structurally unique and biologically active secondary metabolites [29]. The generally accepted estimate of the number of the fungal species on Earth is a conservative 1.5 million [30]. However, most of the fungi inhabiting the workl have not yet been described. So far, less than 5% of all species, about 72,000 to 100,000 species have been known already. Therefore, fungi represent a large source for natural products with diverse chemical structural and activities [31]. According to the "classic" definition that appears to be universally accepted in the scientific community, marine fungi are divided into two groups, obligate and facultative marine fungi-obligate marine fungi are those that grow and sporulate exclusively in a marine or estuarine habitat, while facultative marine fungi are those from freshwater or terrestrial milieus able to grow (and possibly also to sporulate) in the marine environment [32, 33]. The research showed that over 60% of marine fungi genera have been obtained from sponge, wood and alga. Sponges have yielded the greatest taxonomic diversity [34].

#### 1.3.1 Natural Products from Marine-Derived Fungi

Historically, the first secondary metabolite isolated from a marine-derived fungal strain was cephalosporin C, produced by a culture of a *Cephalosporium* sp., isolated in 1949 close to a sewage outlet off the Sardinian coast [35]. However, that was a more or less incidental discovery, and it took another 30 years until marine-derived fungi were analyzed more systematically. It was only in the late 1980s that sizable



quantities of new secondary metabolites were discovered from this long neglected source [36]. Before 1990s, the reports on natural products chemistry from marine derived fungi were rare. A few studies can be found between 1970 and 1990. The researches of secondary metabolites from marine derived fungi blossomed in the 1990s and notably since 1998. To date, the total number of new natural products from marine-derived fungi has exceeded 1000. 21% and 19% of these new compounds have been reported from marine fungi derived from algae and sponges, respectively. The majority of the isolated compounds (almost 50%) belonged to polyketides and their isoprene hybrids, followed by alkaloids, terpenes, and peptides, which contributed 14–20%. These new compounds were produced mostly from members of the fungal genera *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus*. Representatives of other genera that were less common were *Acremonium*, *Emericella*, *Epicoccum*, *Exophiala*, *Paraphaeospaeria*, *Phomopsis*, and *Halarosellinia* [37].



Part I

Isolation and Biological Activities of Secondary Metabolites from the Marine Brown Alga, *Padina arborescens* Holmes



#### Abstract:

In this study, three new glyceroglycolipid compounds,  $3-O-(6-\text{deoxy}-6-\text{sulfo}-\alpha-D$ glucopyranosyl)-2-*O*-palmitoyl-glycerol (SQMG),  $1-O-oleoyl-3-O-(\beta-D-gluco$ pyranosyl)-glycerol (OGG), and 1-O-nonadecyl-3-O- $(\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl)-glycerol (NGG) along with a known compound 1-O-palmitoy-2-O-oleoyl-3-O-( $\beta$ -Dglucopyranosyl)-glycerol (POGG) were isolated from a marine brown alga, Padina arborescens Holmes using different column chromatography. The structures of the isolated compounds were determined based on the analysis of NMR and MS spectral data. Furthermore, the anti-cancer effects of the glyceroglycolipid compounds were examined in human leukemia (HL-60) cells via MTT assay. The results showed that SQMG, OGG and NGG showed higher cell growth inhibitory effects than POGG in the HL-60 tumor cells. In order to detail elucidate the anti-cancer effects of SQMG, OGG and NGG, the morphology changes using nuclear staining and DNA population distribution via cell cycle analysis were also investigated. These results revealed that treatment with SQMG, OGG and NGG could induce the apoptosis in HL-60 cells. Western blot analysis showed that the treatments of SQMG, OGG and NGG could up-regulate the expression level of caspase-3 and Bax, inhibit the expression of Bcl-xL in HL-60 cells. Collectively, these findings suggest that the new glyceroglycolipids, SQMG, OGG and NGG isolated from P. arborescens Holmes induce apoptosis in HL-60 cells through regulation of Bcl-2 family and caspase-3.





13

#### 1. Materials and methods

#### **1.1 General materials**

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz) and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz) spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECP 400 NMR spectrometer (JEOL, Japan), using DMSO- $d_6$  solvent peak (2.50 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H and 39.5 ppm in <sup>13</sup>C NMR) as an internal reference standard. Column chromatography was carried out by Silica Gel 60 (230–400 mesh, Merck, Germany), ODS (12 nm, YMC, Japan), Sephadex LH-20 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO). Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was run on pre-coated Merck Kieselgel 60 F254 plates (0.25 mm). 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenylte-trazolium bromide (MTT) was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). All the solvent and chemicals used in this study were of a reagent grade from commercial sources.

#### **1.2 Plant Materials**

The marine brown seaweed, *Padina arborescens* Holmes (PA) was collected from the coast of Jeju Island, Korea, in July, 2008. The fresh seaweed were washed three times with tap water to remove the salt, epiphytes, and sand attached to the surface, then carefully rinsed with fresh water and maintained in a medical refrigerator at -20 °C. The lyophilized PA was ground into powder before extraction.





Figure 1-1. The photograph of the brown alga, Padina arborescens Holmes



#### **1.3 Extraction and isolation**

The dried PA powder (300 g) was extracted by stirring with 80% methanol (3 × 3 L) at room temperature for 12 h and filtered. The solvent was removed under vacuum at 40 °C. This methanol extract was suspended in distilled water (800 mL). The extract was partitioned with *n*-hexane, CHCl<sub>3</sub>, EtOAc in sequence. The CHCl<sub>3</sub> extract (PAC), which exhibited a potent activity, was subject to a silica gel flash chromatography eluted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>/MeOH (gradient) to yield twelve sub-fractions (PAC1-PAC12). The active fraction F12 was further purified by Sephadex LH-20 column with MeOH to give nine fractions (PAC12.1-PAC12.9). The active fraction PAC12.5 was further purified on ODS column chromatography, eluted with a gradient solvent system of H<sub>2</sub>O-MeOH (50:50) to H<sub>2</sub>O-MeOH (0:100), afford 60 fractions 15 mL in volume to yield the compound 1 (35.7 mg). The active fraction F12.6 was purified by ODS column chromatography, eluted with 50% to 100% MeOH in distilled water, and yielded compound 2 (5.5 mg) (Fig. 1).





Figure 1-2. Isolation scheme of the active compounds from  $CHCl_3$  fraction of *P*. *arborescens* Holmes.



The EtOAc extract (PAE), which exhibited a potent activity, was subject to a silica gel flash chromatography eluted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>/MeOH (gradient) to yield eleven sub-fractions (PAE1-PAE11). The fraction PAE7 was further purified by Sephadex LH-20 column with MeOH to give nine fractions (PAE7.1-PAE7.9). The fraction PAE7.2 was purified by ODS column chromatography, eluted with 50% to 100% MeOH in distilled water, yield compound 3 (14.6 mg) and compound 4 (3.5 mg).

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR and 2D NMR spectra of the isolated compounds were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECP 400 MHz NMR spectrometer, using DMSO- $d_6$  solvent peak (2.50 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H and 39.5 ppm in <sup>13</sup>C NMR) as an internal reference standard. The MS spectra were obtained on a JEOL JMS-700 spectrometer.





Figure 1-3. Isolation scheme of the active compounds from EtOAc fraction of *P*. *arborescens* Holmes.


# 1.4 Cell culture

HL-60 (Human promyelocytic leukemia cell line) was maintained at 37  $^{\circ}$ C in an incubator with humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were cultured at a concentration of 1 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% (v/v) heat-inactivated FBS, penicillin (100 U/mL) and streptomycin (100 µg/mL) for further experiments.

#### 1.5 Cell growth inhibitory assay

The cell growth inhibitory assays of isolated compounds were examined by MTT assay. The cells were seeded in 96-well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml (180 µl). After 16 h incubation at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere, the cells were treated with 10 µl of various concentrations of the compounds (25, 50, 100 and 200 µM), and further incubated for 24 h. The 50 µl of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then applied to the wells, to a total reaction volume of 250 µl. After 3 h of incubation, the plates were centrifuged for 5 min at 800 × g, and the supernatants were aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150 µl of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), and the absorbance was measured via ELISA at a wavelength of 540 nm. The percentage inhibitory effect was evaluated in accordance with the quantity of MTT converted to the insoluble formazan salt. The optical density of the formazan generated in the control cells was considered to represent 100% viability. The data are expressed as mean percentages of the viable cells versus the respective control.



#### 1.6 Nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342

The nuclear morphology of the cells was evaluated using the cell-permeable DNA dye, Hoechst 33342. Cells with homogeneously stained nuclei were considered viable, whereas the presence of chromatin condensation and/or fragmentation was indicative of apoptosis [38, 39]. The cells were placed in 24-well plates at a concentration of 1 ×10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml (950  $\mu$ I). Sixteen hours after plating, the cells were treated with various concentrations of the compounds (50  $\mu$ I). Twelve hours later, 3  $\mu$ I of Hoechst 33342 (stock 10 mg/ml), a DNA-specific fluorescent dye, were added to each well, followed by 10 min of incubation at 37 °C. The stained cells were then observed under a fluorescence microscope equipped with a CoolSNAP-Pro color digital camera, in order to examine the degree of nuclear condensation.

#### **1.7 Cell cycle analysis**

Cell cycle analysis was conducted to determine the proportion of apoptotic sub-G1 hypodiploid cells [40]. The cells (HL-60) were plated in 6-well plates at a concentration of 4.0 ×10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL and then incubated for 24 h at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere. The cells were then treated with the different concentrations of the isolated compounds. After incubation for 24 h at 37 °C, the cells were harvested and fixed in 1 ml of 70% ethanol for 30 min at 4 °C. The cells were washed twice with PBS and incubated in darkness in 500 µl of PBS containing 50µg PI and 50µg RNase A for 30 min at 37 °C. The flow cytometric analysis was conducted with a FACSCalibur flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA, USA). The effect on



the cell cycle was determined by changes in the percentage of cell distribution at each cell cycle phase, and assessed by histograms generated by the Quest and Mod-Fit computer programs [41].

# 1.8 Western blot analysis

Cells (2 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL) were treated with different concentration of the isolated compounds for 24 h, and then harvested. The cell lysates were prepared with lysis buffer (50 mmol/L Tris–HCl (pH 7.4), 150 mmol/L NaCl, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% SDS and 1 mmol/L EDTA). Cell lysates were washed via centrifugation, and the protein concentrations were determined using a BCA<sup>TM</sup> protein assay kit. The lysates containing 30 µg of protein were subjected to electrophoresis on 10% or 12% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gels, and the gels were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The membranes were incubated with primary antibody against Bax, Bcl-xL, cleaved caspase-3, and  $\beta$ -actin in TTBS (25 mmol/L Tris-HCl, 137 mmol/L NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20, pH7.4) containing 0.5% nonfat dry milk at 1 h. The membranes were then washed with TTBS and incubated with secondary antibodies. Signals were developed using an ECL Western blotting detection kit and exposed to X-ray films.



#### 2. Results

# 2.1 Isolation of the active compounds from marine brown alga, *Padina* arborescens Holmes

In our continuous study on the bioactive compounds from marine algae, MeOH extracts of several marine algae have been investigated for their anti-cancer activities in different cell lines. As a result, the MeOH extract of marine brown alga, *P. arborescens* Holmes exhibited most potential anticancer effects in HL-60 cells. Therefore, the MeOH extract of *P. arborescens* Holmes was further partitioned between different solvents, including *n*-hexane, chloroform, and ethyl acetate. The CHCl<sub>3</sub> and EtOAc fractions with the highest activity were further purified by different column chromatography. Finally, four glyceroglycolipid compounds were successively isolated and the structures of the isolated compounds were determined on basis of the MS and NMR (<sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C) spectral data, and also comparing with previously published data.

The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectral data of the isolated compounds suggested three common structural features including a sugar moiety, a glycerol system, and long aliphatic chains.

1–*O*–palmitoyl–2–*O*–okoyl–3–*O*–( $\beta$ –D–glucopyranosyl)–glycerol (POGG, 1): White, amorphous powder, LR-EIMS: m/z 757 [M + H]<sup>+</sup>. <sup>1</sup>HNMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz):  $\delta$  5.31 (2H, t, J = 4.8), 5.13 (1H, m), 4.56 (1H, d, J = 3.68), 4.35 (1H, dd, J = 2.3, 9.8), 4.14 (1H, dd, J = 4.6, 7.32), 3.87 (1H, dd, J = 5.9, 11.1), 3.77 (1H, ddd, J = 5.2, 5.9, 9.4), 3.41 (1H, dd, J = 5.7, 10.7), 3.19 (1H, dd, J = 3.7, 9.6), 2.91 (1H, t, J =





8.7), 2.53 (1H, dd, J = 6.6, 14.0), 2.26 (4H, m), 1.98 (4H, m), 1.49 (4H, m), 1.23 (36H, br. s), 0.85 (6H, t, J = 6.4); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz):  $\delta$  173.9 (C-1'), 172.4 (C-1''), 129.6 (C-9'), 129.5 (C-10'), 104.1 (C-1'''), 74.3 (C-5'''), 72.9(C-3'''), 71.6 (C-2'''), 69.8 (C-2), 68.5 (C-3), 64.6 (C-3), 62.6 (C-1), 54.6 (C-6''), 33.5 (C-2'), 33.4 (C-2''), 31.2 (C-16', C-14''), 28.5-29.0 (C-4'-7', C-12'- C-15', C-4''-C-13''), 26.6 (C-8'), 26.5 (C-11'), 24.4 (C-3'), 24.2 (C-3'), 22.0 (C-15'', C-17'), 13.9 (C-18', C16'').

Compound 1 was isolated as a white, amorphous powder. The LR-EIMS data give a molecular ion peak at m/z 757 [M + H]<sup>+</sup>. Compared with the published data, the structure of the compound 1 was determined as 1–O–palmitoyl–2–O–oleoly –3–( $\alpha$ –D–glucopyranosyl)–glycerol. It was first isolated from a brown alga, *Sargassum fulvellum* and showed fibrinolytic activity (Fig.1-4-1) [19]. In this study, this compound was first isolated from the brown alga, *P. arborescens* Holmes.















3-*O*-(6-deoxy-6-sulfo-α-D-glucopyranosyl)-2-*O*-palmitoyl-glycerol (SQMG, 2). White, amorphous powder, HR-EIMS: m/z 555.2868 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz): δ 5.11 (1H, m, H-2), 4.57 (1H, J = 3.9, H-1'), 4.10 (1H, dd, J = 5.2, 10.0, H-1a), 3.91 (1H, dd, J = 10.8, 4.2, H-1b), 3.85 (1H, m, H-3a), 3.85 (1H, m, H-5'), 3.69 (1H, dd, J = 4.28, 9.7, H-3b), 3.17 (1H, dd, J = 5.6, 10.4, H-2'), 2.93 (1H, t, J = 4.6, H-4'), 2.89 (1H, m, H-6'a), 2.56 (1H, dd, J = 6.7, 14.0, H-6'b), 2.29 (2H, t, J = 7.6, H-2''), 1.50 (2H, m, H-3''), 1.23 (H, m, H-4''-15''), 0.85 (3H, t, J = 7.1, H-16''); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz): δ 172.9 (C-1'''), 98.8 (C-1'), 74.4 (C-4'), 73.1 (C-3'), 71.9 (C-2'), 69.2 (C-2), 68.4 (C-5'), 65.3 (C-3), 67.1 (C-1), 32.4 (C-2''), 31.2 (C-14''), 28.5 – 29.0 (C-4''-C-13''), 24.4 (C-3''), 22.0 (C-15''), 13.9 (C-16'').

Compound 2 was isolated as a white amorphous solid and gave a quasimolecular ion peak at m/z 555.2868 [M-H]<sup>-</sup> in the negative HR-EIMS, corresponding to a molecular formula C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O<sub>11</sub>S, and this was supported from its NMR data. The first spin system was assigned to a glycerol system ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  4.10 and 3.91,  $\delta_{\rm c}$  67.1); ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  5.11,  $\delta_{\rm c}$ 69.2); ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  3.94 and 3.69,  $\delta_{\rm c}$  65.3); the second group of signals were attributed to a long-chain saturated fatty acid, where the terminal methyl signals appeared at  $\delta_{\rm H}$  0.85 (3H, t, J = 7.0 Hz) and  $\delta_{\rm c}$  13.9, while the third spin system indicated that the presence of a glycosyl moiety. The anomeric signals at  $\delta_{\rm C}$  98.8 and  $\delta_{\rm H}$  4.57 (d, 3.9) indicated the  $\alpha$  configuration of this sugar. The ester group signals ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  172.9) and methyl carbon signals ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  13.9) in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum, as well as methyl proton signals ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  0.85, 3H) in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum, suggested that one saturated fatty acid chain was linked to the glycerol moiety. The presence of one acyl fatty acid was confirmed by the





26

MS/MS fragment m/z 255, which suggested loss of palmitic acid. In the HMBC spectrum, the glycerol, the glycerol methylene proton at  $\delta_{\rm H} 5.11$  was correlated to the ester carbonyl at  $\delta_{\rm C}$  172.9, indicating the linkage of the palmitoyl acid to the glycerol portionat C-2. Consequently, the structure of 2 determined was as  $3-O-(6-\text{deoxy-}6-\text{sulfo-}\alpha-\text{D-glucopyranosyl})-2-O-\text{palmitoyl-glycerol}$ (SQMG). Although, the sulfoquinovosyldiacylglycerol (SQDG) compounds have been isolated from marine algae, especially from green and brown algae [42, 43], this compound was obtained from the marine brown alga, P. arborescens Holmes as a new compound, sulfoquinovosylmonoacylglycerol (SQMG). (Fig. 1-4-2)





Figure 1-5. The mass spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.





Figure 1-6. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.





**Figure 1-7.** The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of SQMG (2) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.



1-*O*-okeoyl-3-*O*-(β-D-glucopyranosyl)-glycerol (OGG, 3), White, amorphous powder, HR-EIMS: m/z 517.3401 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz): δ 4.95 (1H, m, H-2), 4.06 (1H, d, J = 7.1, H-1'), 4.05 (1H, dd, J = 4.1, 11.2, H-1a), 3.97 (1H, dd, J = 6.4, 11.2, H-1b), 3.79 (1H, dd, J = 5.7, 10.3, H-3a), 3.68 (1H, dd, J = 5.2, 10.3, H-3b), 3.62 (1H, br. d, H-5'), 3.51 (1H, dd, J = 5.9, 10.4, H-6'a), 3.44 (1H, dd, J = 5.7, 10.4, H-6'b), 3.42 (1H, dd, J = 5.6, 10.4, H-4'), 3.27 (1H, m, H-3'), 3.17 (1H, m, H-2'), 2.29 (2H, t, J = 7.6, H-2"), 1.51 (2H, m, H-3"), 1.23 (H, m, H-4"-7", H-12"-17"), 0.85 (3H, t, J=7.1, H<sub>3</sub>-18"); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz) δ 172.9 (C-1"), 129.6 (C-9"), 129.6 (C-10"), 104.0 (C-1'), 75.2 (C-4'), 73.2 (C-3'), 70.5 (C-2'), 70.4 (C-2), 68.0 (C-5'), 67.3 (C-1), 65.4 (C-3), 33.4 (C-2"), 31.2 (C-16"), 28.4-29.0 (C-4"-C-7", C-12"-C-15"), 24.4 (C-3"), 22.1 (C-17"), 13.9 (C-18").

Compound 3 was isolated as a white amorphous solid, displayed a quasimolecular ion peak in the negative HR-EIMS at m/z 517.3401 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>, which corresponded to a molecular formula  $C_{27}H_{50}O_9$ , and this was supported from its NMR data. It showed an almost identical NMR parttern to 2, except for the presence of a signal at  $\delta_C$  129.6 (C-9", C-10") and the absence of a signal at  $\delta_C$  54.7 in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum. The anomeric carbon signal appeared at  $\delta_C$  104.0 (C-1'), whereas anomeric protons resonated at  $\delta_H$  4.06 (d, J = 7.1), indicated the  $\beta$  configuration of this sugar. The ester group signals ( $\delta_C$  172.9), methyl signals ( $\delta_C$  13.9,  $\delta_H$  0.85) and olefinic resonances at  $\delta_C$  129.6 (C-9", C-10") and  $\delta_H$  5.32 (2H, m), suggested that one unsaturated fatty acid chain was linked to the glycerol moiety. The presence of one



acyl fatty acid was confirmed by the MS/MS fragment m/z 253, which suggested loss of oleic acid. In the HMBC spectrum, the glycerol methylene proton at  $\delta_{\rm H}$  4.05 was correlated to the ester carbonyl at  $\delta_{\rm C}$  172.9, indicating the linkage of the oleic acid to the glycerol portion at C-1. Consequently, the structure of 3 was determined as a new compound, 1-*O*-oleoyl-3-*O*-( $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl)-glycerol (Fig. 1-4-3).





Figure 1-8. The mass spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.





**Figure 1-9.** The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.





**Figure 1-10.** The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of OGG (3) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.



1-*O*-nonadecyl-3-*O*-(β-D-gluco-pyranosyl)-glycerol (NGG, 4). White, amorphous powder. HR-EIMS: m/z 533.3331 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz): δ 4.96 (1H, m, H-2), 4.08 (1H, J = 7.1, H-1'), 4.04 (1H, dd, J = 4.1, 11.2, H-1a), 3.97 (1H, dd, J = 6.4, 11.2, H-1b), 3.81 (1H, dd, J = 5.7, 10.3, H-3a), 3.68 (1H, dd, J = 5.2, 10.3, H-3b), 3.62 (1H, br. d), 3.51 (1H, dd, J = 5.9, 10.4, H-6'a), 3.46 (1H, dd, J = 5.7, 10.4, H-6'b), 3.43 (1H, dd, J = 5.6, 10.4, H-4'), 3.27 (1H, m, H-3'), 3.17 (1H, m, H-1'), 2.29 (2H, t, J = 7.3, H<sub>2</sub>-2"), 1.51 (2H, m, H<sub>2</sub>-3"), 1.23 (H, m, H-4"-18"), 0.85 (3H, t, J = 7.1, H<sub>3</sub>-19"); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz) δ 172.9 (C-1"), 104.0 (C-1'), 75.2 (C-4'), 73.2 (C-3'), 70.5 (C-2'), 70.4 (C-2), 68.0 (C-5'), 65.4 (C-3), 67.4 (C-1), 33.4 (C-2"), 31.2 (C-17"), 28.5 – 29.0 (C-4"-16"), 24.4 (C-3"), 22.1 (C-18"), 13.9 (C-19").

Compound 4, a white amorphous solid, displayed a quasimolecular ion peak in the negative HREIMS at m/z 533.3331 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>, which corresponded to a molecular formula C<sub>28</sub>H<sub>54</sub>O<sub>9</sub>, and this was supported from its NMR data. It also showed an almost identical NMR parttern to compound 3, except for absence of a signal at  $\delta_{\rm C}$ 129.6 (C-9", C-10") in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum. The anomeric carbon signal appeared at  $\delta_{\rm C}$  104.0 (C-1'), whereas anomeric protons resonated at  $\delta_{\rm H}$  4.06 (d, J = 7.1), indicated the  $\beta$  configuration of this sugar. The ester group signals ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  172.9) and methyl signals ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  13.9,  $\delta_{\rm H}$  0.85), suggested that one saturated fatty acid chain was linked to the glycerol moiety. The presence of one acyl fatty acid was confirmed by the MS/MS fragment m/z 297, which suggested loss of nonadecanoic acid. In the HMBC spectrum, the glycerol methylene proton at  $\delta_{\rm H}$  4.05 was correlated to the ester



carbonyl at  $\delta_{\rm C}$  172.9, indicating the linkage of the oleic acid to the glycerol portion at C-1. Therefore, the structure of 1 was determined as a new compound, 1-O-nonadecyl-3-O-( $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl)-glycerol (Fig. 1-4-4).





Figure 1-11. The mass spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from P. arborescens Holmes.





Figure 1-12. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.





Figure 1-13. The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of NGG (4) isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes.



#### 2.2 Anticancer effects of the glyceroglycolipids from P. arborescens Holmes

In order to determine the inhibitory effects of the four isolated compounds on tumor cell growth, human promyelocytic leukemia cell line (HL-60) has been adopted. As shown in the Fig. 1-14, the compounds, OGG and NGG showed higher cell growth inhibitory effects than POGG and SQMG. At the concentrations of 200  $\mu$ M, OGG and NGG showed the inhibition rate were 89.1% and 79.3%, respectively. SQMG, OGG and NGG also showed dose-dependent inhibitory effects of cancer cell growth in HL-60 cells. At the highest concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, the growth inhibitory effect of SQMG on cancer cell is 60.4%. On the other hand, POGG didn't show a dose-dependent inhibitory effect and the activities at all the concentrations were less than 20%.





Figure 1-14. Inhibitory effects of the four compounds isolated from the marine brown alga, *P. arborescens* Holmes against the growth in the cancer cell (HL-60).



#### 2.3 Induction effects of apoptosis in HL-60 cells by the isolated compounds

Since three new compounds have shown the growth inhibitory effects in HL-60 cancer cells, the induction effects of apoptosis by treatments of these compounds have been investigated via nuclear staining with Hoechst 33342. Hoechst 33342 is used for specifically staining DNA, and has been used extensively for the detection of nuclear shrinkage, including chromatin condensation, nuclear fragmentation, and the appearance of apoptotic bodies, all of which are indicative of apoptosis [44]. As shown in the Figure1-15, in the control, which was non-treated, uninjured nuclei were clearly observed. However, the additions of SQMG, OGG and NGG at the different concentrations, especially at 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, indicated significant levels of nuclear fragmentation, which is also indicative of apoptosis. This result suggests that the treatments of SQMG, OGG and NGG could induce the apoptosis in the HL-60 cells.





Figure 1-15. Induction of apoptosis by the treatment of SQMG, OGG and NGG at the different concentrations. HL-60 cells were seeded at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml and treated with the different concentrations of the compounds. After an incubation of 24 h, cellular morphological changes were observed under a fluorescence microscope after Hoechst 33342 staining.



# 2.4 Sub-G1 DNA content

Using flow cytometric analysis of PI-stained fixed cells, the anti-cancer effects of three new compounds associated with changes in the cell cycle distribution have been examined. Compared with the non-treated cells (Fig. 1-16), the sub-G1 DNA content was significantly increased when the cells were treated with the different concentrations of SQMG. Especially, the sub-G1 content increased to 67.2% at the concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, (Fig. 1-16A). Furthermore, the treatments of OGG and NGG were also found to increase the sub-G1 contents. However, at the concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, the sub-G1 contents of OGG and NGG treated groups were 37.1% and 22.1%, respectively (Fig. 1-16B). This result indicated that the treatment with three new compounds, especially SQMG could induce a sub-G1 phase arrest of the HL-60 cancer cell cycle.





**Figure 1-16.** Effects of SQMG, OGG and NGG on the cell cycle distribution of HL-60 cells. HL-60 cells were treated with the different concentrations of the compounds for 24 h. Cells were fixed in 70% ethanol, stained with PI and the percentage of cells in G1 phase of the cell cycle was determined by flow cytometry.





#### 2.5 Regulations of caspase-3, Bax and Bcl-xL by the isolated compounds.

The activation of caspase cascade is a key element in the apoptotic process [45]. Caspase-3 is one of the key executioners in apoptosis, as it is cleavage of many key proteins such as the nuclear enzyme poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP)[46]. The Bcl-2 family, including anti-apoptotic (such as Bcl-xL and Bcl-2) and pro-apoptotic (such as Bax and Bad) members, also play important roles in the regulation of mitochondrial-mediated apoptosis [47]. In order to further analyze the possible mechanism of the cell apoptosis induced by SQMG, OGG and NGG, we examined the expression of caspase-3, Bax, and Bcl-xL in HL-60 cells after the treatment with 100 and 200 µM of three new compounds. The expression levels of Bax, a pro-apoptotic protein were increased by the compounds treatments at the concentrations of 100 and 200 µM, while the Bcl-xL protein levels were decreased in a dose-dependent manner. Furthermore, the treatments with SQMG, OGG and NGG were found to activate the caspase-3 in HL-60 cells (Fig.1-17). These findings suggest that three news compound isolated from P. arboresens induce apoptosis in HL-60 cancer cells via down-regulation of Bcl-xL and up-regulation of Bax and caspase-3.





**Figure 1-17.** Effects of SQMG, OGG and NGG on up-regulation of Bax and caspase-3, down-regulation of Bc1-xl. The HL-60 cells were treated with the different concentrations of the compounds for 24 h. Equal amounts of cell lysate (30µg) were resolved via SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose, and probed with specific antibodies (anti-Bax, anti-BCL-xl, and anti-caspase-3).



#### 3. Discussion

This is the first study on chemical composition of the marine brown alga, *Padina arborescens* Holmes. In this study, three new glyceroglycolipids, SQMG, OGG and NGG along with a known compound, 1-O-palmitoyl-2-O-oleoyl-3-O-( $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl)–glycerol were isolated from marine brown alga, *P. arborescens* Holmes. The anti-cancer effects of the four glycerolglycolipids have been investigated on HL-60 cell. The results showed that OGG and NGG showed higher growth inhibitory effects than SQMG. The morphology changes of the HL-60cells treated with SQMG, OGG and NGG were also observed. When the cell treated with SQMG, OGG and NGG at the different concentrations, the obvious apoptosis were observed. Furthermore, the results of sub-G1 DNA contents indicated that the SQMG, OGG and NGG acould significantly induced accumulation of sub-G1 DNA contents.

Apoptosis is an evolutionarily conserved and genetically regulated process that plays an essential role in the development and maintenance of cell homeostasis and is morphologically and biochemically different from necrosis [48, 49]. Many anticancer agents exert their effect by apoptosis. The Bcl-2 family proteins are key regulators of apoptosis. The anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family of proteins (especially Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1) are frequently over expressed in cancer cells, including solid tumors. Therefore, they prevent death in corresponding cells and increase resistance to traditional treatments [50]. On the other hand, activation of the pro-apoptotic protein, Bax promotes cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. Released cytochrome c will activate initiator caspase-9 to activate sequential cascade of caspases. The





proteolytic activation of executioner, such as caspase-3, results in the proteolysis of death substrates and subsequent DNA degradation and apoptotic death [51]. Our results clearly demonstrated that SQMG, OGG and NGG treatments to HL-60 cells resulted in a dose-dependent increase in the levels of Bax with a concomitant decrease in Bcl-xL levels. Moreover, the SQMG, OGG and NGG also found to up-regulate the level of caspase-3 in the cancer cells.



# 4. Conclusion

In conclusion, this is the first study on natural product chemistry and biological activity of the isolated compounds from *P. arborescens* Holmes. Three new glyceroglycolipid compounds, SQMG, OGG and NGG isolated from *P. arborescens* Holmes were shown to inhibit the cell growth in HL-60 cells, and arrest cell cycle at sub-G1 phase. It is capable of inducing apoptosis in HL-60 cells through up-regulation of Bax and caspase-3, down-regulation of Bcl-xL level.



Part II

Isolation, Culture of Marine-Derived Fungi and Screening the Biological Activities of their Extracts



#### Abstracts

In order to find new bio-resource, we tried to isolate and identify the marine-derived fungi from four types of marine samples including float, marine algae, animal, and wood collected from Jeju Island, Korea. Finally, 36 strains have been successfully isolated and identified from these samples. Then, all trains were cultured in the SWS medium. After extraction, the bio-activities including DPPH scavenging, NO production inhibitory effects and anti-cancer effects of the broth and mycelium extracts of each strain were determined. Most of isolated strains showed strong anti-oxidant activity against DPPH, especially the strains from Penicillium sp. and Eurotium sp. Combination of MTT and NO production inhibitory results, several extracts (B extracts of 021-2, 042-1, 047-2, 063-1, 074-2, 080-1, 82-2-2 and M extracts of 021-2, 042-1, 069-1) of marine fungi showed higher inhibitory effects on LPS-induced NO production without cytotoxicity in RAW 264.7 cells than thoes of other fungi. Furthermore, the extracts from the strains belonged to the Penicillium species showed higher cell growth inhibitory activity than other strains. And an unidentified strain 013-1 showed highest inhibitory activity among all fungal strains. Therefore, the fungal strains isolated from marine-derived samples could be the good sources for biological natural products.



#### 1. Materials and methods

#### 1.1. General reagents

Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) was purchased from sigma Chemical Co (St. Louis, MO). Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), fetal bovine serum (FBS) penicillin–streptomycin and trypsine-EDTA were obtained from Gibco/BRL (Grand Island, NY, USA). 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenylte-trazolium bromide (MTT) and 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). The other chemicals and reagents used were of analytical grade.

# 1.2. Samples and fungal strain isolation from collected samples.

Four types of samples including float, marine algae, animal, and wood were collect around the coast of Jeju Island, Korea, in August, 2011. Thereafter, all the samples were immersed by saline for 12hr at room temperature. The samples were aseptically cut into small piece using sterile surgical scissors and carefully placed onto the prepared petri-dish plates containing selected solid YPG culture media with antibiotics. These plates were sealed and labeled by sample code and initial culturing date. Then, they were put into the incubator at an incubation temperature of 29 °C with humidity.



# YPG solid media:

Glucose	1.0%
Nutrient Agar	2.0%
Peptone	2.0%
Yeast	1.0%

Dissolve in the filtered seawater, stirred and autoclaved at 121 °C for 20 minutes. Then, these media were laid the media at room temperature under UV light. The antibiotic was added when the temperature was decreased to less than 55 °C. The medium were transferred to petri-dish.

#### 1.3 Isolation and Identification of fungal strains in pure culture

After several days, when several fungal colonies observed growing on the surface of the above culture media plates, colonies that differ in time of appearances, size, color, and morphological shapes were further cultured. A loop full of each pure colony was picked up and inoculated onto solid culture media plates. The plates were incubated again in the incubator at 29 °C with humidity. The culture and transfer was repeated several times until finally pure isolates were obtained. Total thirty-six fungal strains have been isolated. The fungal strains were identified base on the sequencing of the ITS region. (Table 1) The voucher specimens are deposited at Marine Bio-Resource Technology Labortary of Jeju National Unversity.


#### **1.4 Liquid Culture and Extraction**

The isolated marine-derived fungi were transfer to the 300 mL Erlenmeyer flasks containing 100 mL of SWS medium containing soytone (0.1%), solube starch (1.0%) and seawater (100%). The liquid culture flasks were put in the incubator at 29 °C with humidity for several days. Thereafter, the culture broth and mycelium were separated by filtration. Then broth was extracted with EtOAC (100 mL) three times to give broth extract (B). The mycelium was extracted with CHCl<sub>3</sub>-MeOH (1:1) to provide mycelium extract (M). The broth and mycelium extracts were checked TLC and subjected in the further biological activity screening experiments.

#### **1.5 DPPH radical scavenging assay**

The free radical scavenging activity of the test samples was determined using the ESR spin-trapping technique. DPPH has been widely used to evaluate free radical generation. The DPPH radical scavenging activity was measured using an ESR spectrometer (JES-FA machine, JEOL, Tokyo, Japan) according to the previous described by Nanjo et al. [52]. 60  $\mu$ L of each sample was added to 60  $\mu$ L of DPPH (60  $\mu$ mol/L) in ethanol. After 10 seconds of vigorous mixing, the solutions were transferred to Teflon capillary tubes and fitted into the cavity of the ESR spectrometer. The spin adduct was determined by the ESR spectrometer exactly 2 min later under the following measurement conditions: central field 3475 G, modulation frequency 100 kHz, modulation amplitude 2 G, microwave power 5 mW, gain 6.3  $\times 10^5$ , and temperature 298 K. All the radical scavenging activities (%) in the present study were





calculated using the following equation, in which A and  $A_0$  were the relative peak areas of the radical signal with and without a sample, respectively.

Radical scavenging activity =  $[1-(A/A_0)] \times 100$ 

# 1.6 Screening nitric oxide (NO) production inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi

#### 1.6.1 Cell culture

The murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 was purchased from the Korean Cell Line Bank (KCLB; Seoul, Korea). RAW 264.7 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 100 U/mL of penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/mL of streptomycin and 10% FBS. The cells were incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C and were sub-cultured every 3 days.

#### 1.6.2 MTT assay

The cells were seeded in 96-well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml (180 µL). After 24 h incubation at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere, the cells were treated with LPS (1 µg/mL) and 10 µL of the samples, and further incubated for 24 h. The 50 µl of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then applied to the wells, to a total reaction volume of 250 µl. After 24 h of incubation, the plates were centrifuged for 5 min at 800 × g, and the supernatants were aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were



dissolved in 150 µl of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), and the absorbance was measured via ELISA at a wavelength of 540 nm. The percentage inhibitory effect was evaluated in accordance with the quantity of MTT converted to the insoluble formazan salt. The optical density of the formazan generated in the control cells was considered to represent 100% viability. The data are expressed as mean percentages of the viable cells versus the respective control.

#### 1.6.3 Determination of Nitric Oxide (NO) Production

RAW 264.7 cells  $(2 \times 10^5)$  were plated and incubated with samples in the absence or presence of LPS  $(1 \ \mu g/mL)$  for 24 h. The nitrite concentration in the culture medium was measured as an indicator of NO production, according to the Griess reaction [53]. One hundred microliters of culture supernatant was mixed with the same volume of Griess reagent (0.1% naphtylethylenediamine dihydrochloride and 1% sulfanilamide in 5% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The absorbance of the mixture was measured with a microplate reader (Ultraspec 2100 pro) at 540 nm. The concentration of nitrite was calculated with sodium nitrite as a standard.

#### 1.7 Screening anti-cancer effects of the extracts from Marine-Derived Fungi

#### 1.7.1 Cell culture

HL-60 (Human promyelocytic leukemia cell line) was maintained at 37 °C in an incubator with humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were cultured at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% (v/v)

58



heat-inactivated FBS, penicillin (100 U/mL) and streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/mL) for further experiments.

#### 1.7.2 Cell growth inhibitory assay

The cell growth inhibitory assays of the test samples were examined by MTT assay. The cells were seeded in 96-well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml (180 µl). After 16 h incubation at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere, the cells were treated with 10 µl of the samples, and further incubated for 30 min. The 50 µl of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then applied to the wells, to a total reaction volume of 250 µl. After 5 h of incubation, the plates were centrifuged for 5 min at 800 × g, and the supernatants were aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150 µl of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), and the absorbance was measured via ELISA at a wavelength of 540 nm. The percentage inhibitory effect was evaluated in accordance with the quantity of MTT converted to the insoluble formazan salt. The optical density of the formazan generated in the control cells was considered to represent 100% viability. The data are expressed as mean percentages of the viable cells versus the respective control.



#### 2. Results and Discussion

#### 2.1 Culture and isolation of marine-derived fungi

Total thirty-six fungal strains have been isolated and identified from four types of samples, including alga, animal, float and some unknown samples. These fungal strains belong to five genera and several unidentified strains. Most of the isolated strains belong to the genus of *Penicillium* (19 strains). Four species of them belong to the genus of *Aspergillus*. Two species belong to the genus of *Eurotium*, two were from *Fusarium*, and one is *Auricularia sp*. Although some of the isolated strains were same, they were isolated from different hosts.

For evaluation of the biological activities of the extract from the fungal strains, all the strains were culture in the flask with 100 mL of liquid culture medium. After several days, the fungal strains were further extracted to give B and M extracts. The B and M extracts from each strain were checked by TLC to observe the profile of chemical composition (date do not show). All the extracts were prepared with different solvent for further experiments.



No.	Host	Name	Similarity (%)
002-2	Float	Aspergillus tamarii	98
003-2	Float	-	
006-1	Unknown	Aspergillus tamarii	98
007-1	Float	-	
010-1	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium chrysogenum	100
010-2	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium sp.	96
013-1	Float	-	
015-1	Animal	Eurotium repens	100
015-2	Animal	Eurotium amstelodami	100
015-3	Animal	Penicillium crustosum	100
021-2	Unknown	Penicillium sp.	99
042-1	Alga (Br.)	-	
043-1	Alga (Br.)	Auricularia polytricha	99
045-1	Float	Eurotium amstelodami	100
045-2	Float	Penicillium aff. sclerotiorum	100
045-3	Float	Aspergillus clavatus	100
047-2	Float	Penicillium chrysogenum	100
050-1	Alga (Red)	Fusarium sp.	100
053-1	Animal	Penicillium janthinellum	96
063-1	Alga	Aspergillus sp.	98
063-2	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium citreonigrum	100
063-3	Alga (Br.)	Aspergillus sp.	98
064-1	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium herquei	95
065-2	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium crustosum	100
066-2	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium expansum	100
068-1	Alga (Br.)	Penicillium sp.	100
069-1	Alga (Red)	Fusarium oxysporum	100
074-2	Alga (Gre.)	Penicillium sp.	100
075-1	Alga	Penicillium oxalicum	100
076-1	Float	Eurotium amstelodami	98
077-1	Float	Penicillium sp.	100
079-1	Alga (Red)	Penicillium sp.	99
079-2	Float	Penicillium chrysogenum	99
079-3	Alga (Red)	Penicillium sp.	100
080-1	Alga (Red)	Penicillium sp.	100
082-2-2	Alga (Red)	-	

Table 2-1. Total fungal strains isolated from marine resources.

-Indicate unidentified fungi.



#### 2.2 DPPH scavenging activities

DPPH is a free-radical generating compound and has been widely used to evaluate the free-radical scavenging ability of various antioxidant compounds [54, 55]. It is a stable free radical and accepts an electron or hydrogen radical to become a stable diamagnetic molecule [56]. The DPPH scavenging activities of extracts from marine fungi are shown in Fig 2-1. Most broth extracts of marine fungi showed higher DPPH scavenging activity than the mycelium extracts. That may be due to the containing of salt in the mycelium extract. Over 20 species of marine fungi show scavenging activity more than 60% against DPPH at concentration of 1 mg/mL. Two strains including Eurotium repens (015-1) and Penicillium crustosum (015-3) didn't grow in the SWS medium. The DPPH activities of the extracts from them were not measured. Among all the marine fungi, the broth extracts from Penicillium chrysogenum, Eurotium amstelodami, Aspergillus clavatus, Penicillium herquei, Penicillium sp. (010-2, 074-2, 079-1, 077-1, 079-1, 079-3, 080-1) showed higher activities than other species with activities of more than 70% at the concentration of 1 mg/mL. The mycelium extracts of Penicillium sp. (010-2), Eurotium amstelodami, unidentified (013-1), Penicillium chrysogenum, and Penicillium sp. (068-1, 079-3, and 080-1) showed higher DPPH activities than those of other mycelium extracts at concentration of 1 mg/mL (Figure 2-1). The results indicated that both B and M extract from these fungi could be the resources to provide antioxidant natural products.





Figure 2-1 DPPH radical scavenging activity of broth and mycelium extract from marine-derived fungi. Experiments were performed in triplicated and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.



#### 2.3 Assessment of cell viability

In order to evaluate cytotoxicity of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in RAW 264.7 cells, cell viability was estimated via an MTT assay, which is a test of metabolic competence predicated upon the assessment of mitochondrial performance. It is colorimetric assay, which is dependent on the conversion of yellow tetrazolium bromide to its purple formazan derivative by mitochondrial succinate dehydrogenase in viable cells [57]. The results were shown in the figure 2-3. The cell treated with LPS showed 87% cell viability. After incubation with LPS and extracts from marine fungi, some extracts of marine fungi showed cytotoxicity in RAW 264.7 cell. Especially, the broth extracts of unidentified strain 013-1, *Aspergillus clavatus* (045-3), and *Penicillium janthinellum* (053-1), the mycelium extracts of *Penicillium janthinellum* (053-1) and 82-2-2 showed lowest cell viabilities. Some extracts of marine fungi showed slight cytotoxicity. However, the B extracts of 021-2, 042-1, 047-2, 050-1, 063-1, 074-2, 077-1, 080-1, 82-2-2 and M extracts of 015-2, 021-2, 042-1, 045-1, 063-3, 069-1 did not showed cytotoxicity in RAW 264.7 cells.





Figure 2-2. Cell viability of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in RAW 264.7 macrophages. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.



## 2.4 Effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi on LPS-induced NO production.

Nitric oxide (NO) plays an important role in the regulation of many physiological functions such as vasodilation, neurotransmission, and inflammation [58, 59]. NO is produced from L-arginine by a chemical reaction catalyzed by NO synthase (NOS) in living systems. However, excessive NO has been implicated in various pathological processes including septic shock, tissue damage following inflammation, and rheumatoid arthritis [60]. To evaluate the potential anti-inflammatory effects of the extracts from marine fungi on NO production in RAW 264.7 cells, cell were treated with extracts of marine fungi for 1 h and then treated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h. NO concentrations were measured in the culture supernatants by the Griess reaction and ELISA assay. LPS treatment significantly increased the production of NO. According to the results of cell viability of extracts in RAW 264.7 cells, the NO inhibitory effects of some extracts from marine fungi maybe were caused by cell damage or death. However, the B extracts of 021-2, 042-1, 047-2, 063-1, 074-2, 080-1, 82-2-2 and M extracts of 021-2, 042-1, 069-1 showed significant inhibitory effects of NO production without cytotoxicity at concentration of 200 µg/ml. Especially, the B extracts 021-2, 047-2, 074-2 and 82-2-2 showed highest inhibitory activities of NO production as 17.1%, 0.9%, 1.0%, and 0%, respectively. Therefore, these marine-derived fungi may produce anti-inflammatory nature products.





Figure 2-3. No production inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$ SE.



### 2.5. Cell growth inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in HL-60 cells.

In this study, we investigated the cell growth inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine fungi in HL-60 (Figure 2-4). The B extracts of unidentified fungi 013-1 and *Aspergillus clavatus* (045-3) showed highest growth inhibitory activity in HL-60 cells. At the concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL, the activities of them were 94.7% and 92.0%, respectively. The B extracts of 007-1, *Penicillium* sp. (010-2), *Eurotium amstelodami* (015-2), *Auricularia polytricha* (043-1), *Penicillium chrysogenum* (047-2), *Penicillium janthinellum* (053-1), *Penicillium citreonigrum* (063-2), *Penicillium herquei* (064-1) and 82-2-2 showed inhibitory effects more than 60% in HL-60 cells. In case of M extracts from marine fungi, the extracts of *Fusarium* sp. (050-1), *Penicillium janthinellum* (053-1), and 82-2-2 exhibited the activities more than 60% on cell growth inhibition at concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/mL. Many reports have been showed that the polyketide and alkaloids isolated from marine fungi exhibited anti-cancer activities in various cancer cell lines. Therefore, the extracts of marine-fungi used in this study could be the potential sources of polyketides and alkaloids with anti-cancer effects.





Figure 2-4. Cell growth inhibitory effects of the extracts from marine-derived fungi in HL-60 cells. Experiments were performed in triplicate and the data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SE.



#### **3.** Conclusion

In this study, 36 strains have been isolated and identified from marine-derived samples. Most of them showed strong anti-oxidant activity against DPPH. Several extracts of marine fungi showed inhibitory effect on LPS-induced NO production without cytotoxicity in RAW 264.7. The extracts from the strains belonged to the *Penicillium* species showed higher cell growth inhibitory activity than other strains. And an identified strain 013-1 showed highest inhibitory activity among all fungal strains. Therefore, the fungal strains isolated from marine-derived samples could be the good sources for biological natural products.



Part III

### Natural Products from the Marine-Derived Fungus, *Eurotium amstelodami* and their Biological Activities



#### Abstract

Due to the extracts from Eurotium amstelodami (015-2) have shown strong bioactivities (DPPH scavenging, inhibition of NO production and anti-cancer effects) among all marine fungi, we selected E. amstelodami as our target strain for the researches of natural products and their biological activity. Four compounds were successfully isolated from the B extract of E. amstelodami. The structures of the compounds were determined as asperflavin (1), questinol (2), neoechinulin A (3) and preechinulin (4) base on the analysis of the MS and NMR spectral data as well as comparison of those data with the published data. Among them, questinol was isolated from E. amstelodami for the first time. Moreover, the anti-inflammatory effects of asperflavin and questinol in LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 cells were investigated. The results showed that treatment with asperflavin and questinol at indicated concentrations could significantly inhibit NO and PGE<sub>2</sub> production. Asperflavin and questinol were also found to inhibit the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6. Furthermore, asperflavin and questinol suppressed the expression level of iNOS in a dose-dependent manner, respectively. However, they could not affect the expression of COX-2. Therefore, our study suggests a potential use of these compounds might be selected as a promising agent for the prevention and therapy of inflammatory disease.



#### 1. Materials and Methods

#### 1.1 General materials

<sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz) and <sup>13</sup>C NMR (100 MHz) spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECP 400 NMR spectrometer (JEOL, Japan), using DMSO- $d_6$  solvent peak (2.50 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H and 39.5 ppm in <sup>13</sup>C NMR) as an internal reference standard. Column chromatography was carried out by Silica Gel 60 (230–400 mesh, Merck, Germany), ODS (12 nm, YMC, Japan), Sephadex LH-20 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA). Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was run on pre-coated Merck Kieselgel 60 F254 plates (0.25 mm). 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenylte-trazolium bromide (MTT) was purchased from Sigma Chemical Co. (St. Louis, MO, USA). All the solvent and chemicals used in this study were of a reagent grade from commercial sources.

#### **1.2 Fungal Material**

Base on the results of screening for the biological activities of the extracts from marine fungi, the fungal strain, *Eurotium amstelodami* (015-2) has been selected as our target strain for research of bioactive natural products and their bioactivities. The fugal strain was cultured (8 L) for 30 d (static) at 29 °C in SWS medium containing of soytone (0.1%), soluble starch (1.0%) and seawater (100%) (Fig. 3-1).





Figure 3-1 Morphology of E. amstelodami and culture in SWS medium.



#### **1.3 Extraction and Isolation of Natural Products**

The cultured broth of the strain *E. amstelodami* was filtered through cheese cloth to separate into broth and mycelium. The broth was extracted with EtOAc, and the EtOAc solution was concentrated under reduced pressure to give a broth extract (015-2B) (0.7 g). The mycelium was freeze-dried and extracted three times with CHCl<sub>3</sub>-MeOH (1:1) for 2 h using sonication and gave a mycelium extract (015-2 M) (2.2 g) after evaporation and dry. The broth extract (0.7 g) was subjected to silica gel flash chromatography (*n*-hexane/EtOAc, EtOAc/MeOH) to furnish twelve fractions (B1-B12) on the basis of TLC analysis. Fr. B7 (161.2 mg) was further purified by Sephadex LH-20 column eluting with MeOH to give compound 1 (7.6 mg) and crude compound 2 and 3. Final purification of the each fraction by HPLC (Sunfire, Waters, 50% MeOH) yielded the compounds 2 (25.2 mg) and 3 (35.6 mg). Fr. B10 (130.5 mg) was further purified by Sephadex LH-20 column eluting with MeOH to give crude compound 4. Then the fraction was finally purified by HPLC to afford compound 4.

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of the isolated compounds were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECP 400 MHz NMR spectrometer, using DMSO- $d_6$  solvent peak (2.50 ppm in <sup>1</sup>H and 39.5 ppm in <sup>13</sup>C NMR) as an internal reference standard. MS spectra were obtained on a JEOL JMS-700 spectrometer.





Figure 3-2. Isolation scheme of the natural products from *E. amstelodami*.



Compound 1 (asperflavin): greenish amorphous powder, EI-MS m/z: 287 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz):  $\delta$  6.78 (1H, s, H-10), 6.54 (1H, d, J = 2.0, H-5), 6.42 (1H, d, J = 2.0, H-7), 3.84 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>O-8), 2.95 (2H, s, H-4), 2.85 (1H, d, J = 16.9, H-2a), 2.79 (1H, d, J = 16.9, H-2b), 1.26 (3H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-3). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz):  $\delta$  203.2 (C-1), 165.0 (C-9), 161.2 (C-8), 160.6 (C-6), 141.6 (C-10a), 137.8 (C-4a), 115.7 (C-10), 108.8 (C-8a), 108.1 (C-9a), 101.9 (C-5), 97.8 (C-7), 69.4 (C-3), 55.7 (CH<sub>3</sub>O-8), 51.5 (C-2), 42.7 (C-4), 28.9 (CH<sub>3</sub>-3).

Compound 2 (questinol): yellow powder, EI-MS m/z: 287 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz):  $\delta$  13.31 (1H, s, OH-1), 7.57 (1H, d, J = 1.6, H-4), 7.20 (1H, d, J = 1.6, H-2), 7.20 (1H, d, J = 2.3, H-5), 6.83 (1H, d, J = 2.3, H-7), 4.58 (2H, s, CH<sub>2</sub>OH-3), 3.90 (3H, s, 6-OCH<sub>3</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz):  $\delta$  186.3 (C-9), 182.3 (C-10), 164.8 (C-1), 163.5 (C-6), 161.7 (C-8), 151.2 (C-3), 136.8 (C-10a), 132.1 (C-4a), 120.9 (C-2), 115.8 (C-4), 115.1 (C-8a), 112.5 (C-9a), 107.2 (C-5), 105.0 (C-7), 62.0 (CH<sub>2</sub>OH-3), 56.3 (OCH<sub>3</sub>-8).

Compound 3 (neoechinulin A): white powder. EI-MS m/z: 324  $[M+H]^+$ , <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz):  $\delta$  1.38 (3H, d, J = 6.8, H-12), 1.47 (6H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18/19), 4.16 (1H, qd, J = 7.2, 1.6, H-12), 5.01 (1H, d, J = 13.1, H<sub>a</sub>-17), 5.05 (1H, d, J = 6.2, H<sub>b</sub>-17), 6.07 (1H, dd, J = 13.1, 6.2, H-16), 6.89 (1H, s, H-14), 7.01 (1H, dd, J = 7.6, 7.3, H-6), 7.08 (1H, dd, J = 7.8, 7.6, H-5), 7.19 (1H, d, J = 7.8, H-4), 7.42 (1H, d, J = 7.3, H-7), 8.32 (1H, s, H-8), <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz):  $\delta$  166.4 (C-13), 159.9 (C-10), 145.1 (C-16), 143.9 (C-2), 135.1 (C-7a), 125.9 (C-3a), 124.9 (C-9), 120.7 (C-6), 119.3 (C-5), 118.8 (C-4), 111.6 (C-8), 111.5 (C-7), 110.1 (C-17), 103.4 (C-3), 50.5



(C-12), 38.9 (C-15), 27.5 (C-18/19), 19.6 (C-20).

Compound 4 (preechinulin): white powder. EI-MS m/z: 326 [M+H]<sup>+</sup>, <sup>1</sup>H NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 400 MHz):  $\delta$  1.23 (3H, d, J = 7.1, H-20), 1.49 (6H, s, CH<sub>3</sub>-18/19), 3.07 (1H, dd, J = 9.0, 14.4, H<sub>a</sub>-8), 3.36 (1H, d, J = 4.6, H<sub>b</sub>-8), 3.79 (1H, qd, J = 2.5, 7.0, H-12), 3.96 (1H, m, H- 9), 5.04 (2H, d, J = 17.6, H-17), 6.18 (1H, dd, J = 10.5, 17.4, H-16), 6.93 (1H, dd, J = 7.3, 7.5, H-5), 7.02 (1H, dd, J = 7.7, 7.3, H-6), 7.31 (1H, d, J = 7.5, H-4), 7.42 (1H, d, J = 7.7, H-7), 7.49 (1H, d, J = 2.9, NH-14), 8.16 (1H, d, J = 2.5, NH-11), 10.5 (1H, s, NH-1). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (DMSO- $d_6$ , 100 MHz):  $\delta$  167.8 (C-13), 167.3 (C-10), 146.5 (C-16), 141.3 (C-2), 134.9 (C-7a), 128.9 (C-3a), 120.5 (C-6), 118.3 (C-5), 117.9 (C-4), 111.0 (C-17), 110.1 (C-7), 104.6 (C-3), 55.7 (C-9), 50.3 (C-12), 31.0 (C-8), 28.0 (C-19), 27.9 (C-18), 20.6 (C-20).



#### 1.4 Anti-inflammatory effects of the compounds isolated from E. amstelodami.

#### 1.4.1 Cell culture

The murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 was purchased from the Korean Cell Line Bank (KCLB; Seoul, Korea). RAW 264.7 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 100 U/mL of penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/mL of streptomycin and 10% FBS. The cells were incubated in an atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37 °C and were sub-cultured every 3 days.

#### 1.4.2 MTT assay

The cells were seeded in 96-well plate at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml (180 µl). After 24 h incubation at 37 °C under a humidified atmosphere, the cells were treated with 10 µl of the samples, and further incubated for 30 min. The 50 µl of MTT stock solution (2 mg/ml) was then applied to the wells, to a total reaction volume of 250 µl. After 24 h of incubation, the plates were centrifuged for 5 min at 800 × g, and the supernatants were aspirated. The formazan crystals in each well were dissolved in 150 µL of dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), and the absorbance was measured via ELISA at a wavelength of 540 nm. The percentage inhibitory effect was evaluated in accordance with the quantity of MTT converted to the insoluble formazan salt. The optical density of the formazan generated in the control cells was considered to represent 100% viability. The data are expressed as mean percentages of the viable cells versus the respective control.

#### 1.4.3 Determination of Nitric Oxide (NO) Production



RAW 264.7 cells (5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup>) were plated and incubated with samples in the absence or presence of LPS (1 µg/mL) for 24 h. The nitrite concentration in the culture medium was measured as an indicator of NO production, according to the Griess reaction. One hundred microliters of culture supernatant was mixed with the same volume of Griess reagent (0.1% naphtylethylenediamine dihydrochloride and 1% sulfanilamide in 5% H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The absorbance of the mixture was measured with a microplate reader (Ultraspec 2100 pro) at 540 nm. The concentration of nitrite was calculated with sodium nitrite as a standard.

#### **1.4.4 Determination of PGE<sub>2</sub> Production**

RAW 264.7 macrophages were plated on 24well plates at a density of  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/ml. The cells were pre-treated with 1 h with the compounds at the concentrations of 50, 100, 200 µM prior to 24h of stimulation with LPS (1 µg/ml). The culture supernatants were immediately utilized for PGE<sub>2</sub> determination. The PGE<sub>2</sub> concentration in the culture medium was quantified using a competitive enzyme immunoassay kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The production of PGE<sub>2</sub> was measured relative to that following control treatment.

### 1.4.5 Measurement of Pro-inflammatory Cytokines (TNF-α, IL-1β and IL-6) Production.

To determine the effects of the compounds on production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, the RAW 264.7 macrophages were incubated with the compounds (50, 100 and 200 $\mu$ M) in the presence or absence of LPS (1 $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h. The inhibitory effects of compound 1 and 2 on the pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6) production from LPS-treated





RAW 264.7 cells was determined as described in the cho et al. [61] protocols. Supernatants were used for pro-inflammatory cytokines assay using mouse ELISA kit.

#### **1.4.6 Western Blot Analysis**

Murine macrophage cell line RAW 264.7 were pre-incubated for 24 h, and then stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) in the presence of the test compounds for the indicated time. After incubation, the cells were collected and washed twice with cold-PBS. The cells were lysed in a lysis buffer [50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 150 mM NaCl, 1% Nonidet P-40, 2 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1 mM NaVO<sub>3</sub>, 10 mM NaF, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride, 25 µg/ml aprotinin, 25 µg/ml leupeptin] and kept on ice for 30 min. Cell lysate were washed by centrifugation, and protein concentrations were determined by using BCA<sup>TM</sup> protein assay kit. Aliquots of the lysates (30-50 µg of protein) were separated on a 12%SDS-polyacrylamide gel and transferred onto a polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane(BIO-RAD, HC, USA) with a glycine transfer buffer [192 mM glycine, 25 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.8), 20% MeOH (v/v)]. After blocking the nonspecific site with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA), the membrane was then incubated with specific primary antibody at 4 Cforovernight. The membrane was further incubated for 60 min with а peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:5000, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, USA) at room temperature. The immune-active proteins were detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) Western blotting detection kit.



#### **1.5 Statistical Analysis**

All the data were presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D. from three independent experiments unless stated otherwise. Statistical comparisons between different treatments were done by one way ANOVA with Student Newman Keul's post hoc tests using SPSS program (version 19.0).\**p*<0.05,and\*\* *p*<0.01,vs. LPS-stimulated group.



#### 2. Results and Discussion:

#### 2.1 Isolation and identification of bioactive natural products from E. amstelodami

Base on the results of the bioactivities of marine-derived fungi, the strain *Eurotium amstelodami* has been selected for the isolation of the bioactive compounds, especially the broth extract. Therefore, 8 L of the strain, *E. amstelodami* was cultured for in SWS medium for 30 d (static) at 29 °C in SWS medium. The broth was extracted with EtOAC to obtain the B extract. Then, the B extract was purified using silica column chromatography followed by Sephadex LH-20 and ODS or HPLC chromatography. Four compounds have been successfully isolated. The structures of the isolated compounds were determined by analysis of the MS and NMR spectral data as well as comparison of those data with the previous reports.

Asperflavin (1) was isolated as greenish amorphous powder. The LR-EIMS data give a molecular ion peak at m/z 287 [M - H]<sup>-</sup>. The molecular formula of 1 was determined as C<sub>16</sub>H<sub>16</sub>O<sub>5</sub> base on the MS and NMR data. The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR data showed the presence of a carbonyl, a methoxyl, two aliphatic methylenes, three aromatic protons among which two were meta-coupled with each other, an aliphatic quaternary carbon bearing oxygen, seven aromatic quaternary carbons among which three bore oxygen and a ketone carbonyl in 1. It was determined as asperflavin (**Fig. 3-3-1**) as comparison with the previous report [62, 63].

Questinol (2) was isolated as yellow powder, and its molecular weight was determined as m/z 299 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>, and that corresponded with  $C_{16}H_{12}O_6$ . The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C





NMR signals indicated it might be an anthraquinone compound. In comparison of the NMR data with those of questinol in the literature [64, 65], it was determined as quetinol, as shown in Figure 3-3-2. This compound was first isolated from *E. amstelodami* according our best knowledge.

Neoechinulin A (3), a white powder, has a molecular ion peak at m/z 322 [M-H]<sup>-</sup>. The molecular formula of 3 was determined as  $C_{19}H_{21}N_3O_2$  base on the MS and NMR data. It was identified as neoechinulin A (**Fig. 3-3-3**), which was previously isolated from fungal genera *Eurotium* and *Apsergillus* [66].

Preechinulin (4), a white powder, showed a molecular ion peak at m/z 326  $[M+H]^+$ . The molecular formula of 4 was determined  $C_{19}H_{23}N_3O_2$  base on the MS and NMR data. The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR were identical to those of compound 3 except for the absence of olenfinic protons and carbons signals. Therefore, compound 4 was determined as preechinulin (**Fig. 3-3-4**) by comparison of the NMR data with published data [67].





Figure 3-3. The chemical structures of the compounds isolated from *E. amstelodami*.





Figure 3-4. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of asperflavin





**Figure 3-5.** The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of asperflavin





**Figure 3-6.** The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of questinol





**Figure 3-7**. The <sup>13</sup>C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of questinol





Figure 3-8. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of neoechinulin A





Figure 3-9. The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of neoechinulin A




Figure 3-10. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (400 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of preechinulin





**Figure 3-11.** The  ${}^{13}$ C-NMR (100 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of preechinulin



### 2.2 Anti-inflammatory effects of asperflavin and questinol in LPS-stimulated Raw 264.7 cells

#### 2.2.1 Cell viability in Raw 264.7 cells

To investigate the cytotoxic effects of asperflavin and questinol in RAW 264.7 cells in the presence of LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml), MTT assays were employed. As shown in the **Fig. 3-12**, treatment of LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) alone showed cytotoxic effect to RAW264.7 macrophages, while no significant differences between the LPS-treated group and control group. When the cells treated with 50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M of asperflavin and questinol in the presence of LPS, no significant differences of cell viability were found between the these groups and control group, respectively. The results indicated that up to the concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, asperflavin and questinol did not affect the cell viability in RAW 264.7 cells. Thus, the concentrations of 50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M of asperflavin and questinol will be used for further experiments.





 $\mu$ M of compounds + LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml)

Figure 3-12. Effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on cell viability in RAW 264.7 cells. RAW cells were cultured with the different concentrations (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M) of asperflavin and questinol, respectively, and LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h, respectively. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments.



# 2.2.2 Effects of asperflavin and questinol on NO production in LPS-treated RAW 264.7 cells

The inhibitory effects of asperflavin and questinol on NO production, RAW 264.7 cells were incubated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h. The production of NO in the culture medium was evaluated by measurement the release of nitrite, which is stable metabolite of NO. As shown in the **Fig. 3-13**, LPS-treatment could significantly elevate the production of NO. The concentration of NO in the LPS-treatment group was defined as 100% of NO production. Pre-treatment with asperflavin and questinol could significantly inhibit LPS-induced NO production in a concentration-dependent manner, respectively. Asperflavin showed NO production of 58.5%, 41.4%, and 4.6% at the concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, respectively. Questinol showed a little weaker inhibitory effects of NO production. The NO production of questinol treated groups were 80.9%, 42.1% and 23.0% at the concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, respectively. Combination of the results of cell viability and NO production inhibitory effects, the inhibitory effects of asperflavin and questinol on NO production was not caused by cytotoxic effects in RAW 264.7 cells.





Figure 3-13. Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on NO production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Cells  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$  were stimulated by LPS  $(1 \mu \text{g/ml})$  for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M), respectively. The NO production was assayed in the culture medium. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*, P < 0.05 and \*\*, P < 0.01 indicate significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.



# 2.2.3 Effects of asperflavin and questinol on PGE<sub>2</sub> production in LPS-treated RAW 264.7 cells

To determine the potential effects of asperflavin and questinol on the inhibition of  $PEG_2$  production, the amount of released  $PGE_2$  was measured using anti-PGE2-coated ELISA plates. Conditioned media was prepared by treating the RAW264.7 cells with asperflavin and questinol (50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ M) for 1 h followed by 24 h of stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml). As shown in the Fig. 3-14, the PGE<sub>2</sub> production was significantly increased by the treatment of LPS. However, pre-treatment with asperflavin and questinol could significantly inhibit LPS-induced PGE<sub>2</sub> production in a concentration-dependent manner, respectively, except for the group treated by 50 $\mu$ M of asperflavin. Asperflavin showed PGE<sub>2</sub> production of 99.7%, 87.6%, and 55.9% at the concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, respectively. Questinol showed higher inhibitory effects of PGE<sub>2</sub> production. The PGE<sub>2</sub> production of questinol treated groups were 93.8%, 78.9% and 56.5% at the concentrations of 50, 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, respectively.





 $\mu$ M of compounds + LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml)

Figure 3-14. Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on PGE<sub>2</sub> production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. Cells  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$  were stimulated by LPS  $(1 \mu g/\text{ml})$  for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M), respectively. Supernatants were collected, and the PGE<sub>2</sub> production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments. \*\*, P < 0.01 indicates significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.





### 2.2.4 Effects of asperflavin and questinol on production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells

The release of pro-inflammatory cytokines is an important mechanism by which the immune cells regulate the inflammatory responses and contribute to various inflammatory and autoimmune disorders. Therefore, we examined the effects of asperflavin and questinol on LPS-induced TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 production using ELISA kit. LPS could induce a significant increase of cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$  (Fig. 3-15), IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig. 3-16) and IL-6 (Fig. 3-17) compared to the control group. However, pre-treatment with asperflavin and questinol was found to reduce the TNF- $\alpha$  level. At the concentrations of 100 and 200  $\mu$ M, the levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were significantly reduced. Pretreatment with questinol at the concentration of 50  $\mu$ M, the level of TNF- $\alpha$  was also significantly reduced. But, no significant difference has been found between the LPS-treated group and 50  $\mu$ M of asperflavin-treated group.

The results of IL-1 $\beta$  production inhibitory effects of asperflavin and questinol were shown in Figure 3-16. At the concentration of 200  $\mu$ M, pre-treatment of the asperflavin were found to significantly inhibit the production of IL-1 $\beta$ . However, at the concentrations of 50 and 100  $\mu$ M, no significant differences were found compared to LPS-treated group. The questinol could significantly reduce the production of IL-1 $\beta$  at the concentrations of 100 and 200  $\mu$ M.

Similar to the results of IL-1 $\beta$  production inhibitory effects of asperflavin and questinol, pre-treated with questinol at the concentrations of 100 and 200  $\mu$ M could significantly inhibit the production of IL-6. Pre-treatment of asperflavin at the concentration of 200  $\mu$ M also significantly reduced the levels of IL-6. While, at other concentrations, asperflavin and questinol could not significantly inhibit the production of IL-6.







Figure 3-15.Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on TNF- $\alpha$  production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of TNF- $\alpha$  was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1 µg/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200 µM), respectively. Supernatants were collected, and the TNF- $\alpha$  production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*, *P* < 0.05 and \*\*, *P* < 0.01 indicate significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.





 $\mu$ M of compounds + LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml)

Figure 3-16. Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on IL-1 $\beta$  production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of IL-1 $\beta$  was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1 µg/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200 µM), respectively. Supernatants were collected, and the IL-1 $\beta$  production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean ± SD of triplicate experiments. \*\*, *P* < 0.01 indicates significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.





 $\mu$ M of compounds + LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml)

Figure 3-17. Inhibitory effects of asperflavin (COM-1) and questinol (COM-2) on IL-6 production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The production of IL-6 was assayed in the culture medium of cells stimulated by LPS (1 µg/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin and questinol (50, 100, and 200 µM), respectively. Supernatants were collected, and the IL-6 production in the supernatants was determined by ELISA. Values are the mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate experiments. \*, P < 0.05 and \*\*, P < 0.01 indicate significant differences from the LPS-stimulated group.





## 2.2.5 Effects of asperflavin and questinol on expression of iNOS and COX-2 protein in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells.

To determine the mechanism by which the compounds reduce LPS-induced NO and  $PGE_2$  production, we investigated the ability of asperflavin and questinol on expression of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. As shown in the figure 3-18, treatment of LPS (1µg/ml) could significantly increase the expression levels of iNOS and COX-2 compared to the control without LPS and asperflavin/questinol in RAW 264.7 cells. However, pre-treated with asperflavin could inhibit the expression of iNOS in a dose-dependent manner. On the other hand, the expression of COX-2 was not decreased by treatment of asperflavin at all concentrations (Fig. 3-18).

Similarly, questinol was also found to inhibit the expression of iNOS at the concentrations of 50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M. And the expression of COX-2 was not affected by treatments of questinol at all concentrations (Fig. 3-19).





Figure 3-18. Inhibitory effects of asperflavin on the expression of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The RAW 264.7 cells were pre-incubated for 18 h, and stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h in the presence of asperflavin (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). The expression levels of iNOS and COX-2 were determined using immunoblotting method.





Figure 3-19. Inhibitory effects of questinol on the expression of iNOS and COX-2 in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. The RAW 264.7 cells were pre-incubated for 18 h, and stimulated with LPS (1  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 h in the presence of questinol (50, 100, and 200  $\mu$ M). The expression levels of iNOS and COX-2 were determined using immunoblotting method.



#### 3. Discussion

NO plays a vital role in the regulation of the vascular and immune system. It has been proven to be an important signaling molecule involved in regulating a wide range of biological activities in vascular, neural, and immune systems [68]. However, over production of NO from inflammatory cells is found to cause the pathophysiology in a variety of diseases, carcinogenesis and inflammation. No is formed by L-arginine by No synthase (NOS), which is generated by man cell types [69]. Three distinct isoforms of NOS have been identified including constitutive endothelial NOS (eNOS), neuronal NOS (nNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS) [70]. In the macrophages, iNOS is significantly induced by LPS-stimulation. PGE2 was considered one of the strongest inflammatory mediators in inflammatory response. It was transformed from arachidonic acid via the COX-2 catalytic reaction. COX-2 also could be affected directly at its enzymatic activity by NO and iNOS [71]. In our study, the compounds, asperflavin (1) and question (2) were found to significantly inhibited the LPS-induced NO and  $PGE_2$  production in a concentration-dependent manner in RAW 264.7 cells. Especially, asperflavin showed strong inhibitory effects of NO production at concentration of 200 µM. Accordingly, the levels of iNOS were also significantly suppressed by the asperflavin and questinol at the concentration of 100 and 200  $\mu$ M. However, asperflavine and qustinol could not decrease the expression levels of COX-2. Furthermore, the inhibitory effects on the LPS-induced NO and PGE2 production, iNOS and COX-2 expression were not due to the cytotoxicity according to the results of cell viability in RAW 264.7 macrophages.

Activated macrophages secrete a number of different inflammatory mediators, including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6. The overproduction of these mediators has been implicated in several inflammatory diseases and cancer [72]. TNF- $\alpha$  is an important



107

pro-inflammatory cytokine and, like NO, is involved in normal physiological immune and inflammatory processes. However, when inappropriately expressed, TNF- $\alpha$  also plays a role in the development of chronic inflammation and associated diseases [73, 74]. IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 are also considered to be the pivotal pro-inflammatory cytokine, for example, IL-1 $\beta$  is believed to play an important role in the pathophysiology of rheumatoid arthritis [75, 76], and IL-6 is regarded an endogenous mediator of LPS-induced fever [77]. Our finding indicated that treatment of asperflavin and questinol significantly inhibited the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 in the LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages.

#### 4. Conclusion

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that the compounds, asperflavin and questinol isolated from the marine-derived fungus, *E. amstelodami* inhibited the production of NO and PGE<sub>2</sub> production through suppression of iNOS expression in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. The compounds, asperflavin and questinol were found to inhibit the pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 as well. Therefore, our study suggests a potential use of these compounds might be selected as a promising agent for the prevention and therapy of inflammatory disease.



#### References

- B. Haefner. Drugs from the deep: marine natural products as drug candidates. Drug Discov Today. 2003, 8: 536-544.
- M. Saleem, M. S. Ali, S. Hussain, A. Jabbar, Muhammad Ashraf and Yong Sup Lee. Marine natural products of fungal origin. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2007, 24: 1142–1152.
- S. Parys, S. Kehraus, A. Krick, K. W. Glombitza, S. Carmeli, L. Karin, C. Gerhäuser, G. M. König. *In vitro* chemopreventive potential of fucopholorethols from the brown alga *Focus vesiculosus* L. by anti-oxidant activity and inhibition of selected cytochrome P450 enzymes. Phytochemistry. 2010, 71: 221-229.
- G. E. Trease, W. C. Evanes. Pharmacognosy. 14th ed., W.B Saunders Company Ltd., London, Philadelphia, Toronto, Sydney, Tokyo. 1996, pp. 18–27.
- Y. X. Li, I. Winjesekara, Y. Li, S. K. Kim. Phlorotannins as bioactive agents from brown algae. Process Biochem. 2011, 46: 2219-2224.
- F. Nwosu, J. Morris, V. A. Lund, D. Stewart, H. A. Ross, G J. McDougall. Antiproliferative and potential antidiabetic effects of phenolic-rich extracts from edible marine algae. Food Chem 2011, 126:1006–1012.
- A. A. El Gamal. Biological importance of marine algae. Saudi Pharm J. 2010, 18: 1–25
- Y. Wang, Z. Xu, S.J. Bach, T.A. McAllister. Effects of phlorotannins from *Ascophyllum nodosum* (brown seaweed) on *in vitro* ruminal digestion of mixed forage or barley grain. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 145 (2008) 375–395.
- 9. R. Pangestutia, S. K. Kim. Biological activities and health benefit effects of



natural pigments derived from marine algae. J Functional Foods. 2011, 3: 255-266.

- 10. S. J. Heo, S. C. Ko, S. M. Kang, H. S. Kang, J. P. Kim, S. H. Kim, K. W. Lee, M. G. Cho, Y. J. Jeon. Cytoprotective effect of fucoxanthin isolated from brown algae *Sargassum siliquastrum* against H2O2-induced cell damage. Eur Food Res Technol. 2008, 228: 145–151.
- S. J. Heo, W. J. Yoon, K. N. Kim, G. N. Ahn, S. M. Kang, D. H. Kang, A. Affan,
   C. Oh, W. K. Jung, Y. J. Jeon. Evaluation of anti-inflammatory effect of fucoxanthin isolated from brown algae in lipopolysaccharide stimulated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Food Chem Toxicol. 2010, 48: 2045–2051.
- 12. H. Maeda, M. Hosokawa, T. Sashima, K. Funayama, K. Miyashita. Fuco xanthin from edible seaweed, *Undaria pinnatifida*, shows antiobesity effect through UCP1 expression in white adipose tissues. Biochem Bioph Res Co. 2005, 332: 392–397.
- H. Maeda, M. Hosokawa, T. Sashima, K. Funayama, K. Miyashita. Effect of medium-chain triacylglycerols on anti-obesity effect of fucoxanthin. J Oleo Sci. 2007, 56: 615–621.
- 14. J. Okuzumi, H. Nishino, M. Murakoshi, A. Iwashima, Y. Tanaka, T. Yamane, Y. Fujita, T. Takahashi. Inhibitory effects of fucoxanthin, a natural carotenoid, on N-myc expression and cell cycle progression in human malignant tumor cells. Cancer Lett. 1990, 55: 75–81
- 15. T. Sugawara, K. Matsubara, R. Akagi, M. Mori, T. Hirata. Antiangiogenic activity of brown algae fucoxanthin and its deacetylated product, fucoxanthinol. J Agr Food Chem. 2006, 54: 9805–9810.
- 16. H. Shimoda, J. Tanaka, S. Shan, T. Maoka. Antipigmentary activity of fucoxanthin and its influence on skin mRNA expression of melanogenic





molecules. J Pharm Pharmacol. 2010, 62: 1137-1145.

- S. J. Heo, Y. J. Jeon. Protective effect of fucoxanthin isolated from *Sargassum* siliquastrum on UV-B induced cell damage. J Photochem Photobiol B. 2009, 95: 101–107.
- 18. S. V. Khotimchenko. Distribution of glyceroglycolipids in marine algae and grassed. Chem Nat Compd. 2002, 38: 223–229.
- 19. W. Wu, K. Hasumi, H. Peng, X. Hu, X. Wang, B. Bao. Fibrinolytic compounds isolated from a brown alga, *Sargassum fulvellum*. Mar Drugs. 2009, 7: 85-94.
- 20. R. J. Andersen, O. Taglialatela-Scafati. Avrainvilloside, a 6-deoxy-6-aminoglucoglycerolipid from the green Alga *Avrainvillea nigricans*. J Nat Prod. 2005, 68: 1428-1430.
- 21. H. Wang, Y. L. Li, W. Z. Shen, W. Rui, X. J. Ma, Y. Z. Cen. Antiviral activity of a sulfoquinovosyldiacylglycerol (SQDG) compound isolated from the green alga *Caulerpa racemosa*. Bot Mar. 2007, 50: 185–190.
- 22. A. Bruno, C. Rossi, G. Marcolongo, A. D. Lena, A. Venzo, C. P. Berrie, D. Corda. Selective in vivo anti-inflammatory action of the galactolipid monogalactosyldiacylglycerol. Eur J Pharmacol. 2005, 524: 159–168.
- Y. Mizushina, Y. Sugiyama, H. Yoshida, S. Hanashima, T. Yamazaki, S. Kamisuki, K. Ohta, M. Takemura, T. Yamaguchi, A. Matsukage, S. Yoshida, M. Saneyoshi, F. Sugawara, K. Sakagauchi. Galactosyldiacylglycerol, a Mammalian DNA Polymerase a-Specific Inhibitor from a Sea Alga, *Petalonia bingbamiae*. Biol Pharm Bull. 2001, 24: 982–987.
- 24. B. N. Zhou, S. Tang, R. K. Johnson, M. P. Mattern, J. S. Lazo, E. R. Sharlow, K. Harich, D. G. I. Kingston. New glycolipid inhibitors of Myt1 kinase. Tetrahedron. 2005, 61: 883–887.





- 25. M. Kladi, C. Vagias, P. Papazafiri, G. Furnari, D. Serio, V. Roussis. New sesquiterpenes from the red alga *Laurencia microcladia*. Tetrahedron. 2007. 63: 7606-7611.
- 26. C. S. Vairappan, M. Suzuki, T. Abe, M. Masuda. Halogenated metabolites with antibacterial activity from the Okinawan *Laurencia* species. Phytochemistry. 2001, 58: 517–523.
- 27. J. Hu, B. Yang, X. Liu, X. F. Zhou, X. Yang, Y. Liu. Bioactive Metabolites from Seaweeds. Kim S, K, (Editor). Handbook of marine Macroalgae: biotechnology and applied phycology. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. West Sussex. 2012
- 28. X. Liu, C. Y. Wang, C. L. Shao, Y. X. Wei, B. G. Wang, L. L. Sun, C. J. Zheng,
  H. S. Guan. Chemical constituents from *Sargassum pallidum* (Turn.) C. Agardh.
  Biochem Syst Eco. 2009, 37: 127–129.
- 29. T. S. Bugni, C. M. Ireland. Marine-derived fungi: A chemically and biologically diverse group of microorganisms. Nat. Prod. Rep. 2004, 21, 143–163.
- D. L. Hawksworth, A. Y. Rossman. Where are all the undescribed fungi. Phytopathology. 1997, 87, 888-891
- D. L. Hawksworth. The fungal dimension of biodiversity: magnitude, significance, and conservation. Mycol Res. 1991, 95, 641-655.
- J. Kohlmeyer and E. Kohlmeyer, Marine mycology: The higher fungi, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- 33. M. E. Rateb, R. Ebel (2011). Secondary metabolites of fungi from marine habitats.Nat Prod Rep. 28(2): 290-344.
- 34. T. S. Bugni, C. M. Ireland. Marine-derived fungi: a chemically and biologically diverse group of microorganisms. Nat Prod Rep. 2004, 21: 143-163
- 35. A. L. Demain; R. P. The beta-lactam antibiotics: past, present, and future. Elander,



Antonie van Leeuwenhoek.1999, 75, 5-19.

- 36. R. Ebel. Natural Product Diversity from Marine Fungi. L. Mander and H. W. Liu(d.) Comprehensive Natural Products II: Chemistry and Biology. Elsevier Ltd.2010. P: 223.
- 37. J. Kohlmeyer and E. Kohlmeyer, Marine mycology: The higher fungi, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- 38. M. Gschwind, G. Huber. Apoptotic cell death induced by b-amyloid 1-42 peptide is cell type dependent. J Neurochem. 1995, 65: 292-300.
- 39. G. Lizard, S. Fournel, L. Genestier, N. Dhedin, C. Chaput, M. Flache. Kinetics of plasma membrane and mitochondrial alterations in the cells undergoing apoptosis. Cytometry. 1995, 21: 275-283.
- 40. I. Nicoletti, G. Migliorati, M. C. Pagliacci, F. Grignani, C. Riccardi. A rapid and simple method for measuring thymocyte apoptosis by propidium iodide staining and flow cytometry. J Immunol Meth. 1991, 139: 271–279.
- 41. X. W. Wang, Q. Zhan, J. D. Coursen, M. A. Khan, H. U. Kontny, L. Yu, GADD45 induction of a G2/M cell cycle checkpoint. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999, 96: 3706–3711.
- 42. J. Golik, J. K. Dickey, G. Todderud, D. Lee, J. Alford, S. Huang, S. Klohr, D. Eustice, A. Aruffo, M. L. Agler. Isolation and structure determination of sulfonoquinovosyl dipalmitoyl glyceride, a p-selection receptor inhibitor from the alga *Dictyochloris fragrans*. J Nat Prod. 1997, 60: 387-389.
- 43. C. X. Li, Y. X. Li, and H. S. Guan. Progress in study on bioactivities of glycoglycerolipids. Chin J Mar Drugs. 2003, 91: 47-52
- 44. S. J. Heo, Y. J. Jeon. Evaluation of diphlorethohydroxycarmalol isolated from *Ishige okamurae* for radical scavenging activity and its protective effect against





H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-induced cell damage. Process Biochemistry 2009, 44: 412–418.

- 45. J. Y. Kim, K. W. Park, K. D. Moon, M. K. Lee, J. Choi, S. T. Yee. K. H. Shim, K. I. Seo. Induction of apoptosis in HT-29 colon cancer cells by crude saponin from *Platycodi radix*. Food Chem Toxicol. 2008, 46: 3753–3758.
- 46. T. Fernandes-Alnemri, G. Litwack, E. S. Alnemri. CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to Caenorhabditis elegans cell death protein Ced-3 and mammalian interleukin-1 beta-converting enzyme. J Biol Chem. 1994, 269: 30761–30764.
- 47. M. Ye, J. K. Liu, Z. X. Lu, Y. Zhao, S. F. Liu, L. L. Li, M. Tan, X. X. Weng, W. Li, Y. Cao. Grifolin, a potential antitumor natural product from the mushroom Albatrellus confluens, inhibits tumor cell growth by inducing apoptosis in vitro. FEBS Lett. 2005, 579: 3437-3443.
- 48. A. Moushumi Priya, S. Jayachandran. Induction of apoptosis and cell cycle arrest by Bis (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate produced by marine *Bacillus pumilus* MB 40. Chem Biol Interact. 2012, 195: 133-143.
- 49. G. H. Wang, T. H. Chou, R. J. Lin, J. H. Sheu, S. H. Wang, C. H. Liang, Cytotoxic effect of the genus *Sinularia* extracts on human SCC25 and HaCaT cells. J Toxicol. 2009, 2009: 634868.
- 50. D. D. Vo, F. Gautier, P. Juin, R. Grée. Structure-activity relationship of selected polyphenol derivatives as inhibitors of Bax/Bcl-xL interaction. Eur J Med Chem. 2012, 51: 286-293.
- 51. J. S. Chang, Y. L. Hsu, P. L. Kuo, Y. C. Kuo, L. C. Chiang, C. C. Lin. Increase of Bax/Bcl-X<sub>L</sub> ratio and arrest of cell cycle by luteolin in immortalized human hepatoma cell line. Life Sci. 2005, 76: 1883-1893.
- 52. F. Nanjo, K. Goto, R. Seto, H. Suzuki, M. Sakai, Y. Hara. Scavenging effect of tea



catechin and their derivatives on 1, 1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl radical. Free Radical Biol Med. 1996, 21: 885-902.

- 53. H. Kim, H. S. Lee, K. T. Chang, T. H. Ko, K. J. Baek, W. S. Kwon. Chloromethyl ketones block induction of nitric oxide synthase in murine macrophages by preventing activation of nuclear factor-κB. J Immunol. 1995, 154: 4741–4748.
- 54. T. Hatano. Constituents of natural medicines with scavenging effects on active oxygen species-Tannins and related polyphenols. Nature Med (Tokyo). 1995, 49: 357-363.
- 55. T. Hatano, R. Edamatsu, A. Mor, Y. Fujita, E. Yasuhara. Effect of interaction of tannins with co-existing substances. VI. Effects of tannins and related polyphenols on superoxide anion radical and on DPPH radical. Chem Pharm Bull. 1989, 37: 2016-2021.
- 56. Y. Li, Z. J. Qian, B. M. Ryu, S. H. Lee, M. M. Kim, S. K. Kim. Chemical components and its antioxidant properties in vitro: An edible marine brown alga, *Ecklonia cava*. Bioorg Med Chem. 2009, 17: 1963–1973.
- 57. T. Mosmann. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. J Immunol Methods. 1983, 65: 55-63.
- 58. L. J. Ignarro. Nitric oxide as a unique signaling molecule in the vascular system: a historical overview. J Physiol Pharmacol. 2002, 53: 503–514.
- H. Prast, A. Philippu. Nitric oxide as modulator of neuronal function. Prog Neurobiol. 2001, 64: 51–68.
- 60. J. Xu, D. Jin, P. Zhao, X. Song, Z. Sun, Y. Guo, L. Zhang. Sesquiterpenes inhibiting NO production from *Celastrus orbiculatus*. Fitoterapia. 2012, doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2011.12.026.





- 61. J. Y. Cho, K. U. Baik, J. H. Jung, M. H. Park. *In vitro* anti-inflammatory effects of cynaropicrin, a sesquinterpene lactone, from *Saussurea lappa*. Eur J Pharmacol. 2000, 398: 399-407.
- 62. J. F. Grove. New metabolic products of *Aspergillus flavus*. Part II. Asperflavin, anhydroasperflavin, and 5,7-dihydroxy-4-methylphthalide J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1, 1972, 2406-2411
- 63. H. Fujimoto, T. Fujimaki, E. Okuyama, M. Yamazaki. Immunomodulatory constituents from an ascomycete, *Microascus tardifaciens*. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1999, 47: 1426-1432.
- 64. Y. Kimura, M. Kozawa, K. Baba, K. Hata. New constituents of roots of *Polygonum cuspidatum*. Plata Med. 1983, 48: 164-169.
- J. B. Li, M. Lin. Chemical composition of *Polygonum multiflorum*. Zhong Cao Yao (China). 1993, 24: 115-118.
- 66. Y. Li, X. Li, S. K. Kim, J. S. Kang, H. D. Choi, J. R. Rho, B. W. Son. Golmaenone, a new diketopiperazine alkaloid from the marine-derived fungus *Aspergillus* sp. Chem Pharm Bull. 2004, 52: 375-376.
- 67. T. Hamasaki, K. Nagayama, Y. Hatsuda. Structure of a new metabolite from *Aspergillus chevalieri*. Agr Biol Chem. 1976, 40: 203-205.
- 68. S. Moncada, R.M. Palmer, E.A. Higgs. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev. 1991, 43: 109.
- 69. Y. C. Chang, P. C. Li, B. C. Chen, M. S. Chang, J. L. Wang W. T. Chiu. C. H. Lin. Lipoteichoic acid-induced nitric oxide synthase expression in RAW 264.7 macrophages is mediated by cyclooxygenase-2, prostaglandin E2, protein kinase A, p38 MAPK, and nuclear factor-κB pathways. Cell signal. 2006, 18: 1235-1243.
  70. M. V. B. Reddy, T. L. Hwang, Y. L. Leu, W. F. Chiou, T. S. Wu. Inhibitory





effects of Mannich bases of heterocyclic chalcones on NO production by activated RAW 264.7 macrophages and superoxide aniongeneration and elastase release by activated human neutrophils. Bioorg Med Chem. 2011, 19: 2751–2756.

- 71. Q. S. Wang, Y. L. Cui, T. J. Dong, X. F. Zhang, K. M. Lin. Ethanol extract from a Chinese herbal formula, "Zuojin Pill", inhibit the expression of inflammatory mediators in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated RAW 264.7 mouse macrophages. J Ethnopharmacology. 2012, 141: 377–385.
- 72. W. W. Lin, M. A. Karin. A cytokine-mediated link between innate immunity, inflammation, and cancer. J Clin Invest. 2007, 117: 1175–1183.
- Z. Szekanecz. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in atherosclerosis. Isr Med Assoc J. 2008, 10: 529–530.
- 74. C. Moro, I. Palacios, M. Lozano, M. D'Arrigo, E. Guillamón, A. Villares, J. A. Mart nez. A. Garc á-Lafuente. Anti-inflammatory activity of methanolic extracts from edible mushrooms in LPS activated RAW 264.7 macrophages. Food Chem. 2012, 130: 350-355.
- 75. J. M. Dayer. The pivotal role of interleukin-1 in the clinical manifestations of rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003. 42(Suppl.2): ii3–10.
- 76. W. K. Jung, I. Choi, D. Y. Lee, S. S. Yea, Y. H. Choi, M. M. Kim, S. G. Park, S. K. Seo, S. W. Lee, C. M. Lee, Y. M. Park, I. W. Choi. Caffeic acid phenethyl ester protects mice from lethal endotoxin shock and inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in RAW264.7 macrophages via the p38/ERK and NF-κB pathways. Int J Biochem Cell B. 2008, 40: 2572–2582.
- 77. J. Y. Kim, S. J. Park, K. J. Yun, Y. W. Cho, H. J. Park, K. T. Lee. Isoliquiritigenin isolated from the roots of *Glycyrrhiza uralensis* inhibits LPS-induced iNOS and



COX-2 expression via the attenuation of NF- $\kappa$ B in RAW 264.7 macrophages. Eur J Pharmacol. 2008, 584: 175–184.



### Acknowledgement

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my supervisor, professor You-Jin Jeon, for the continuous support of my Ph.D study and research, for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. His wide knowledge and logical way of thinking have been of great value to me. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph.D study.

Second, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Professor Yong Li, Changchun University of Chinese Medicine, China, who recommended me to the Marine Bio-resource Technology Lab. Furthermore, he helped me a lot for my stay and study in the beginning of my PhD course. The good advice, support and friendship from him have been invaluable on both an academic and a personal level, for which I am extremely grateful.

I am also greatly indebted to the professors and teachers at the Department of Marine Life science: Professor Ki-Wan Lee, Professor Moon-Soo Heo, Professor Jehee Lee, Professor Gi-Young Kim, and Professor Seungheon Lee, who have instructed and helped me a lot in the past three years. Special thanks go to Dr. DaeKyung Kim, Korean Basic Science Institute, for the kindly review and comments of my thesis.

I would like to thank my lab mates, especially Dr. Seung-Hong Lee, Dr. Sung-Myung Kang, Dr. Seok-Chun Ko, Janaka, Wonwoo Lee, Min-Cheol Kang, Kalpa, Eun-A kim, Na-Lae Kang, and Chao Zhang, for the advices and help during the experiments and study in these years, and for all the fun we have had in the last three years. Also, I would like to thank my friends in Ocean Science College: Qiang Wan and Ying Li.





Last but not the least, I would like to thank my wife Pinmei Zhang for her support and great patience at all times. She has lost a lot due to my study abroad. Without her encouragement and understanding, it would have been impossible for me to finish this work. My parents and sister have given me their unequivocal support throughout, as always, for which my mere expression of thanks likewise does not suffice.

